Annual Report 2020



Portigon Key Figures

Key Figures Year-on-Year Comparison

	1. 1. – 31. 12. 2020	1. 1. – 31. 12. 2019	Change	
			absolute	%
Performance figures in € millions				
Net interest income	-101.6	-168.2	66.6	39.6
Net commission income	0.1	0.9	-0.8	-88.9
Other operating expenses and income	-51.1	-59.3	8.2	13.8
Personnel expenses	-24.9	-27.6	2.7	9.8
Other administrative expenses	-40.4	-39.6	-0.8	-2.0
Provisions for credit risks	2.1	-	2.1	_
Result of securities and participations	-0.4	-0.2	-0.2	-100.0
Extraordinary result	18.0	5.5	12.5	>100.0
Profit/loss before income tax	-198.3	-288.4	90.1	31.2
Taxes on income and revenues	-402.6	-294.0	-108.6	-36.9
Profit/loss after taxes	-600.9	-582.4	-18.5	-3.2

	Dec. 31, 2020	Dec. 31, 2019	Cha	nge
			absolute	%
Balance sheet figures in € millions				
Total assets	2,847.9	4,273.3	-1,425.4	-33.4
Business volume	2,853.5	4,281.2	-1,427.7	-33.3
Credit volume	1,162.4	1,453.9	-291.5	-20.0
Equity capital	236.3	837.2	-600.9	-71.8
Bank regulatory ratios according to CRR/CRD IV				
Common Equity Tier 1 capital in € millions	33.6	119.3	-85.7	-71.8
Tier 1 capital in € millions	38.7	146.0	-107.3	-73.5
Own funds in € millions	521.0	701.2	-180.2	-25.7
Risk-weighted assets in € millions	132.0	198.2	-66.2	-33.4
Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio in %	25.5	60.2	-34.7	-57.6
Tier 1 capital ratio in %	29.3	73.6	-44.3	-60.2
Total capital ratio in %	394.8	353.8	41.0	11.6
Employees				
Number of employees	73	94	-21	-22.3
Full-time equivalent	68	88	-20	-22.7

Due to rounding, numbers presented throughout this document may not add up precisely to the totals provided and percentages may not precisely reflect the figures.

Contents

Management Report as at December 31, 2020	4
Performance at a Glance	4
Structural Changes	4
Portigon AG's Branches, Subsidiaries and Offices	5
Employees	6
Statement of Income	6
Net Interest Income	6
Net Commission Income	7
Other Operating Expenses and Income	7
General Administrative Expenses	7
Provisions for Credit Risks	7
Result of Financial Investments	7
Extraordinary Result	7
Taxes on Income and Revenues	8
Net Loss for the Year	8
Balance Sheet and Business Volume	8
Credit Volume	9
Securities Holdings	9
Liabilities to Banks and Customers	9
Risk-Weighted Assets and Capital Ratios	9
Concluding Statement from the Subordinate Status Report	12
Risk Report	12
Risk Management System	12
Strategic Risk	12
Operational Risk	13
Pension Risk	14
Market Price Risk	15
Liquidity Risk	15
Counterparty Credit Risk	16
HGB Discount Rate Risk	16
Capital Utilisation	16
Usage of Regulatory Capital	16
Usage of Economic Capital (Risk-Bearing Capacity)	17
Concluding Remarks on the Risk Situation	18
Opportunities Report	19
Events after the Reporting Period	19
Outlook	19

Portigon AG Balance Sheet as at December 31, 2020	20
Portigon AG Statement of Income	
for the Period January 1 to December 31, 2020	22
Notes to the Financial Statements as at December 31, 2020	24
General Information	24
1. Mandatory Disclosures in Accordance with § 264 (1a) HGB	24
2. Preparation of the Annual Financial Statements	24
3. Accounting Policies	24
Notes to the Balance Sheet	28
4. Claims on Banks	28
5. Claims on Customers	28
6. Bonds and Other Interest-Bearing Securities	29
7. Equity Investments in Affiliated Companies	29
8. Trust Assets	30
9. Fixed Assets	30
10. Other Assets	30
11. Deferred Items	31
12. Assets Sold under Repurchase Agreements	31
13. Liabilities to Banks	31
14. Liabilities to Customers	31
15. Trust Liabilities	32
16. Other Liabilities	32
17. Deferred Items	32
18. Provisions	33
19. Subordinated Liabilities	35
20. Equity Capital	35
21. Non-Distributable Amounts	36
22. Liability for Pre-Existing Commitments – Grandfathering	37
23. Foreign Currency Assets/Foreign Currency Liabilities	37
Notes to the Statement of Income	38
24. Geographic Breakdown of Income Components	38
25. Administrative and Custodial Services	38
26. Interest Income	38
27. Interest Paid	38
28. Other Operating Result	38
29. Income and Expenses Relating to Different Accounting Periods	39
30. Extraordinary Result	39
31. Taxes on Income and Revenues	39

31. Taxes on Income and Revenues

Contents

Other Information	40
32. Contingent Liabilities	40
33. Off-Balance-Sheet Items	40
34. Other Financial Obligations	40
35. Forward Transactions/Derivatives	41
36. Remuneration of the Governing Bodies	42
37. Loans to Members of the Governing Bodies	43
38. Audit Fees	43
39. Number of Employees	44
40. Shareholdings in Portigon AG	44
41. Seats Held by Members of the Managing Board	44
42. Seats Held by Employees	44
43. Governing Bodies of Portigon AG	45
44. Shareholdings	46
45. Events after the Reporting Period	46
46. Country-by-Country Reporting as at December 31, 2020	47
Independent Auditor's Report	48
Report of the Supervisory Board	54
Corporate Governance at Portigon AG	57
Locations	61

Company Information/Contact Addresses/Disclaimer

Management Report as at December 31, 2020

Performance at a Glance

The company's transformation, i.e. the downsizing of Portigon AG in accordance with the conditions set by the European Commission, continued in the 2020 fiscal year.

Total assets of Portigon AG came to $\notin 2,847.9$ million at December 31, 2020 (previous year: $\notin 4,273.3$ million). Of that amount, $\notin 151.3$ million (previous year: $\notin 280.1$ million) is attributable to trust assets and $\notin 4.2$ million (previous year: $\notin 102.3$ million) to items guaranteed by Erste Abwicklungsanstalt (EAA). The remaining amount chiefly relates to the investment of capital and liquidity back-ups. The reduction in total assets of 33.4% is predominantly due to the incremental transfer in rem to EAA of portfolios only synthetically transferable in 2012 as well as to premature terminations and final maturities of transactions.

The net figure for net interest income, net commission income and the other operating result came to ≤ -152.6 million for Portigon AG (previous year: ≤ -226.6 million). The improvement is mainly attributable to the previous year's increase in a tax provision for interest on arrears incurred on taxes on dividend payments, including solidarity surcharge thereon, which may have been credited without justification in connection with dividend arbitrage transactions of the former WestLB.

The progressive transformation led to a further headcount reduction in the 2020 fiscal year as well as a related decrease of personnel expenses. As a result, Portigon AG's administrative expenses were reduced by \notin 1.9 million, from \notin 67.2 million to \notin 65.3 million.

Portigon AG is showing an extraordinary result of € 18.0 million (previous year: € 5.5 million).

Overall, Portigon AG is reporting a result before taxes of \in -198.3 million (previous year: \in -288.4 million) and a net loss for the year of \in 600.9 million (previous year: \in 582.4 million). The net loss for the year is partly offset by loss participation on the silent contributions to capital (\in 515.2 million) pursuant to the respective terms of issue. The remaining amount (\in 85.7 million), together with the loss carried forward from the previous year, is being reported as a retained loss (\in 465.0 million).

The net loss for the year is in keeping with Portigon AG's forecast of a loss of around € 600 million published in the ad hoc announcement dated December 21, 2020.

Portigon AG's Tier 1 capital ratio is 29.3% (previous year: 73.6%). The total capital ratio rose to 394.8% (previous year: 353.8%), mainly due to the decrease in risk-weighted assets. Risk-weighted assets stand at \in 132.0 million, down from \in 198.2 million in the previous year.

The return on investment in accordance with 26a (1) of the German Banking Act (KWG) is -21.10% (previous year: -13.63%).

Structural Changes

As in the previous years, the year under review was again dominated essentially by the further downsizing of Portigon AG in accordance with the approval decision taken by the European Commission on December 20, 2011. The success of the restructuring can

be seen in particular in the development of total assets. These fell by 33.4% in 2020 to $\notin 2,847.9$ million (previous year: $\notin 4,273.3$ million), mainly due to the incremental transfer in rem to EAA of the holdings of the former WestLB that in the previous years were initially only transferred synthetically, as well as to final maturities and various termination agreements with transaction partners.

Please refer to the next section for more information on Portigon AG's branches, subsidiaries and offices and their further downsizing.

As agreed, Dr. Peter Stemper retired from his post as Chairman of the Managing Board of Portigon AG with effect from August 20, 2020. The Managing Board has since comprised two members: Frank Seyfert, who took the chair of the Managing Board at the same time, and Barbara Glaß.

The formal investigation launched by the Düsseldorf Public Prosecutor's Office in June 2016 and transferred to the Cologne Public Prosecutor's Office in May 2020 into a small number of former Managing Board members of WestLB in connection with dividend arbitrage transactions has still not been concluded. Portigon AG remains in contact with the investigating authorities and cooperates closely with a view to clarifying the matter. After receiving various amended tax assessments from the Düsseldorf Tax Office in connection with dividend arbitrage transactions of the former WestLB, the Managing Board in December revised its forecast with regard to the expected result for the 2020 fiscal year and published a corresponding ad hoc announcement on December 21, 2020. In this the Board stated that it expected Portigon AG to close with a net loss of around € 600 million for the 2020 fiscal year, corresponding to more than 50% of the share capital existing at the end of 2019.

In light of this situation and the net loss incurred in this amount, the shareholders' meeting of Portigon AG resolved a capital increase against cash contributions of approximately € 160 million on March 25, 2021. The new shares were subscribed exclusively by the State of North Rhine-Westphalia. The State of North Rhine-Westphalia and Portigon AG are also in advanced discussions on the conclusion of a € 190 million structured credit facility maturing on December 31, 2025. The intention is to give Portigon AG the opportunity for further capital increases subject to the fulfillment of certain conditions and taking this credit facility into account.

The net proceeds expected from the capital increase will be used to increase Portigon AG's regulatory capital. The liquidity from the capital increase and the structured credit facility will ensure that the company continues to downsize in implementation of the European Commission's decision of December 20, 2011.

Portigon AG's Branches, Subsidiaries and Offices

Based on the European Commission's decision of December 20, 2011, the branches of Portigon AG have been downsized since this date. In addition to its head office in Düsseldorf, Portigon AG was still represented at two branches in London and New York as at December 31, 2020.

After closing eight international branches in the years 2014 to 2018, in addition to the downsizing activities at the head office in the reporting year Portigon AG continued in particular its ongoing projects to close what used to be the two largest foreign branches.

At the London branch, the activities regulated by the regulatory authorities were completed in the 2020 fiscal year and the banking licence was returned.

Employees

The number of employees decreased from 94 (88 full-time equivalent) to 73 (68 full-time equivalent). The downsizing was implemented on the basis of the enterprise-level collective agreement as well as a reconciliation of interests and redundancy scheme, with comparative regulations outside Germany. The number of employees will continue to be reduced in the coming years.

Statement of Income

Portigon AG's performance in 2020 was shaped by claims for recovery from the tax authorities in connection with taxes on dividend payments, including solidarity surcharge thereon, that may have been credited in previous years without justification.

Overall, Portigon AG is reporting a result before taxes of \notin –198.3 million (previous year: \notin –288.4 million) and a net loss of \notin 600.9 million (previous year: \notin 582.4 million) for the 2020 fiscal year. Because of this, the silent contributions to capital cannot be serviced and participate in the loss pursuant to the terms on which they were issued.

	1. 1. – 31. 12. 2020	1. 1. – 31. 12. 2019	Cha	nge
	€ millions	€ millions	€ millions	%
Net interest income	-101.6	-168.2	66.6	39.6
Net commission income	0.1	0.9	-0.8	-88.9
Other operating expenses and income	-51.1	-59.3	8.2	13.8
Personnel expenses	-24.9	-27.6	2.7	9.8
Other administrative expenses	-40.4	-39.6	-0.8	-2.0
Provisions for credit risks	2.1	_	2.1	_
Result of securities and participations	-0.4	-0.2	-0.2	-100.0
Extraordinary result	18.0	5.5	12.5	>100.0
Profit/loss before income tax	-198.3	-288.4	90.1	31.2
Taxes on income and revenues	-402.6	-294.0	-108.6	-36.9
Profit/loss after taxes	-600.9	-582.4	-18.5	-3.2
Loss carried forward from the previous year	-379.3	-297.6	-81.7	-27.5
Withdrawals from profit participation capital	-	4.3	-4.3	-100.0
Withdrawals from silent contributions to capital	515.2	496.5	18.7	3.8
Retained loss	-465.0	-379.3	-85.7	-22.6

Statement of Income from January 1 to December 31, 2020

Net Interest Income

The net interest income of Portigon AG amounted to $\in -101.6$ million (previous year: $\in -168.2$ million). The negative balance is mainly attributable to interest on arrears ($\in -124.6$ million) incurred on the recovery of taxes on dividend payments, including solidarity surcharge thereon, which may have been credited in previous years without justification in connection with dividend arbitrage transactions of the former WestLB.

Net interest income also includes negative interest from lending and money market transactions of $\in -3.5$ million (previous year: $\in -4.2$ million).

Net Commission Income

Portigon AG's net commission income amounted to \in 0.1 million (previous year: \in 0.9 million) and mostly stems from the trust business.

Other Operating Expenses and Income

The balance of other operating expenses and income fell by \in 8.2 million to \in -51.1 million for Portigon AG (previous year: \in -59.3 million).

Other operating expenses including other taxes decreased by \notin 21.7 million from \notin 95.8 million in the previous year to \notin 74.1 million, mainly as a result of a lower interest cost on provisions and reduced earnings from FX swaps.

Other operating income declined to \notin 23.0 million (previous year: \notin 36.5 million), largely due to the decline in contractually agreed reimbursements of expenses for administrative services provided in connection with portfolios synthetically transferred to EAA.

General Administrative Expenses

General administrative expenses fell by \in 1.9 million to \in 65.3 million (previous year: \in 67.2 million).

Personnel expenses decreased by \notin 2.7 million to \notin 24.9 million (previous year: \notin 27.6 million). As a result of the transformation of Portigon AG, the average number of employees over the year declined from 105 to 83.

Other administrative expenses of Portigon AG came to \in 40.4 million (previous year: \notin 39.6 million).

Provisions for Credit Risks

A positive result of \notin 2.1 million was achieved in the provisions for credit risks in the current fiscal year (previous year: \notin 0.0 million) due to recoveries on claims that had been written off.

As a result of the transfer of positions to EAA, Portigon AG is no longer exposed to any credit risks from its former operations in the lending business.

Result of Financial Investments

Financial investments yielded a net result of $\in -0.4$ million (previous year: $\in -0.2$ million) resulting in particular from a write-down.

Extraordinary Result

Portigon AG's extraordinary result amounted to \in 18.0 million (previous year: \in 5.5 million) and is mainly attributable to the reversal of provisions for restructuring.

Taxes on Income and Revenues

The income tax expense of \in 402.6 million incurred in the 2020 fiscal year (previous year: \in 294.0 million) is attributable to income taxes from Germany for previous years of \in 273.2 million and results mainly from the recovery of taxes on dividend payments, including solidarity surcharge thereon, which may have been credited in previous years without justification in connection with dividend arbitrage transactions. Current income taxes from Germany amounted to \in 131.0 million, and the foreign branches generated current tax income of \in 1.6 million.

Net Loss for the Year

Portigon AG is reporting a net loss of \notin 600.9 million for the 2020 fiscal year (previous year: \notin 582.4 million). Accordingly, the silent contributions to capital were not serviced.

Balance Sheet and Business Volume

As in the previous year, Portigon AG's balance sheet as at December 31, 2020 was shaped by further structural changes and downsizing (see the chapter entitled "Structural Changes"). Although a substantial volume of assets and liabilities had been transferred to EAA and Helaba in 2012 in the course of the transformation, legal and tax obstacles and the various transfer paths taken because of these obstacles have meant that banking transactions are still being reported on Portigon AG's balance sheet. As per contract, the credit and market risks associated with these assets and liabilities have been transferred to EAA.

At December 31, 2020, Portigon AG had total assets and total equity and liabilities of \notin 2,847.9 million, of which \notin 151.3 million was reported in the items trust assets and trust liabilities. In addition to investments in closed-end real estate funds that are held in trust, this includes derivative financial instruments carried at amortised cost that were transferred to EAA under the risk transfer agreement and are offset by compensation claims and liabilities. There is also the corresponding cash collateral.

In addition, Portigon AG still has claims on banks in the amount of \notin 42.8 million (previous year: \notin 51.0 million), claims on customers in the amount of \notin 1,114.0 million (previous year: \notin 1,395.0 million), securities in the amount of \notin 748.8 million (previous year: \notin 1,365.6 million) and cash/liquid debt issues in the amount of \notin 761.6 million (previous year: \notin 1,106.1 million). EAA has guaranteed \notin 4.2 million (previous year: \notin 102.3 million) of these assets.

The business volume, which includes contingent liabilities in addition to balance sheet items, totalled \in 2,853.5 million at Portigon AG (previous year: \in 4,281.2 million).

	Dec. 31, 2020 € millions	Dec. 31, 2019 € millions
Cash/liquid debt issues	761.6	1,106.1
Claims on banks	42.8	51.0
Claims on customers	1,114.0	1,395.0
Securities not held for trading	748.8	1,365.6
Equity investments in affiliated and non-affiliated companies	1.2	1.5
Trust assets	151.3	280.1
Tangible/intangible assets	0.1	0.1
Other assets	28.2	73.8
Total assets	2,847.9	4,273.3

Assets

Liabilities

	Dec. 31, 2020 € millions	Dec. 31, 2019 € millions
Liabilities to banks	0.1	5.6
Liabilities to customers	37.1	584.0
Trust liabilities	151.3	280.1
Other liabilities	1,903.1	1,869.1
Subordinated liabilities/Profit participation capital	520.0	697.3
Equity capital	236.3	837.2
Total liabilities	2,847.9	4,273.3
Contingent liabilities	5.6	7.9
Business volume	2,853.5	4,281.2

Credit Volume

The credit volume on the balance sheet was \in 1,162.4 million at December 31, 2020 (previous year: \in 1,453.9 million).

In particular, the amounts for claims on customers were reduced by \notin 281.0 million in the fiscal year now ended to \notin 1,114.0 million (previous year: \notin 1,395.0 million). Of the claims on customers, the amount of \notin 0.0 million (previous year: \notin 87.3 million) is guaranteed by EAA.

	Dec. 31, 2020 € millions	Dec. 31, 2019 € millions
Claims on banks	42.8	51.0
Claims on customers	1,114.0	1,395.0
Contingent liabilities	5.6	7.9
Credit volume carried in the balance sheet	1,162.4	1,453.9

Securities Holdings

Portigon AG's securities portfolio totalled \in 748.8 million at December 31, 2020 (previous year: \in 1,365.6 million). Most of the items in this portfolio are bonds and other interest-bearing securities from public-sector issuers that are not guaranteed by EAA. In the previous year, bonds of \in 12.1 million were still guaranteed by EAA.

Liabilities to Banks and Customers

At December 31, 2020, liabilities to banks and customers at Portigon AG totalled € 37.2 million (previous year: € 589.6 million) and consisted primarily of time deposits.

Risk-Weighted Assets and Capital Ratios

Portigon AG calculates its capital adequacy figures according to the Regulation on prudential requirements for credit institutions and investment firms (Capital Requirements Regulation, CRR) and the Directive on access to the activity of credit institutions and the prudential supervision of credit institutions and investment firms (Capital Requirements Directive IV, CRD IV).

Portigon's own funds recognised for regulatory purposes under the CRR/CRD IV consist of the sum of Tier 1 capital and Tier 2 capital and were as follows at December 31, 2020:

Own Funds

	Dec. 31, 2020 € millions CRR/CRD IV after result for the year	Dec. 31, 2019 € millions CRR/CRD IV after result for the year
Common Equity Tier 1 capital (CET 1): instruments and reserves	33.6	119.3
Capital instruments and the related share premium accounts	498.6	498.6
thereof subscribed capital (shares)	498.6	498.6
thereof capital reserves/reserves from retained earnings (incl. profit/loss)	-465.0	-379.3
Regulatory adjustments to CET 1	-0.0	-0.0
Common Equity Tier 1 capital (CET 1)	33.6	119.3
Additional Tier 1 capital (AT 1): instruments	5.0	26.6
thereof instruments as defined by Article 484 (4) CRR that do not constitute state aid (silent contribution to capital – issued 2005)	5.0	26.6
Regulatory adjustments to AT 1	-	-
Additional Tier 1 capital (AT 1)	5.0	26.6
Tier 1 capital (T 1 = CET 1 + AT 1)	38.7	146.0
Tier 2 capital (T 2)	482.3	555.2
Own funds	521.0	701.2

At the reporting date, Tier 1 capital amounted to \in 38.7 million, down \in 107.3 million as against December 31, 2019.

The decrease is predominantly due to the distribution of the HGB loss for 2020 among the capital components absorbing the loss and to the reduction in the Additional Tier 1 capital instruments, only a portion of which is included in Additional Tier 1 capital in 2020 under the transitional arrangements in the CRR/CRD IV rules (20%).

Common Equity Tier 1 capital fell from \in 119.3 million to \in 33.6 million due to the loss incurred in 2020.

At December 31, 2020, the eligible capital of Portigon AG amounted to \notin 521.0 million, a decrease of \notin 180.2 million year-on-year. In addition to the effects in the Tier 1 capital, this decrease is due to the ineligibility of some subordinated issues for continued inclusion in the regulatory capital.

The subordinated liabilities of Portigon AG included in the regulatory capital meet the requirements for qualification as Tier 2 instruments in Article 63 CRR. There can be no premature repayment obligation on the subordinated liabilities. In the event of bankruptcy or liquidation, subordinated liabilities will not be repaid until all non-subordinated claims have been satisfied.

The profit participation rights expired on December 31, 2019 and accordingly were no longer included in the regulatory capital already in the previous year. The subordinated liabilities are included in Tier 2 capital in the amount of \notin 478.3 million and interest is paid on them in accordance with the terms on which they were issued.

The following ratios were determined at December 31, 2020 on the basis of the eligible capital pursuant to CRR guidelines and taking into account the bottom line for the year:

	Dec. 31, 2020 € millions CRR/CRD IV after result for the year	Dec. 31, 2019 € millions CRR/CRD IV after result for the year
Risk-weighted assets		
Counterparty credit risks	16.8	16.0
Credit valuation adjustment (CVA)	0.6	1.6
Operational risks	44.5	88.3
Total risk exposure amount for position, foreign-exchange and commodities risks	70.0	92.3
Total risk-weighted assets	132.0	198.2
Capital ratios %		
Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio	25.5	60.2
Tier 1 capital ratio	29.3	73.6
Total capital ratio	394.8	353.8

Risk-Weighted Assets and Equity Ratios Pursuant to CRR/CRD IV

Under the CRR/CRD IV framework, risk-weighted assets totalled \in 132.0 million for Portigon AG, which represents a decrease of \in 66.2 million from the amount reported at December 31, 2019.

The counterparty credit exposures rose by \notin 0.8 million to \notin 16.8 million compared with the end of 2019. The main reasons for this were an increase in risk-weighted assets for the EUREX default fund, which is offset to some extent by a decrease in risk-weighted assets as a consequence of the continuous downsizing of the business.

The foreign currency exposures requiring equity backing amounted to \notin 70.0 million at the reporting date, down \notin 22.3 million year-on-year. The decrease in foreign currency exposures at December 31, 2020 is mainly attributable to the asset- and liability-side change in the volume of business that is denominated in USD.

Compared with the end of 2019, the CVA (credit valuation adjustment) charge for Portigon AG fell by \in 1.0 million to \in 0.6 million. The decrease largely stems from the drop in business and the related decline in the positive fair values.

The \in 43.8 million decrease in the operational risk exposure to \in 44.5 million is attributable to gross income of 0 in 2019 resulting from income expense.

The Tier 1 capital ratio fell from 73.6% to 29.3%. This is still above the minimum capital ratios as well as the minimum ratio of 7% stipulated in the framework agreements with Germany's Financial Market Stabilisation Authority (FMSA).

The Common Equity Tier 1 ratio came to 25.5% (previous year: 60.2%).

Against this backdrop, particularly the decrease in risk-weighted assets, the total capital ratio rose from 353.8% to 394.8%.

Concluding Statement from the Subordinate Status Report

The State of North Rhine-Westphalia (NRW) holds 69.49% of the shares of Portigon AG directly and 30.51% indirectly via NRW.BANK, which is wholly owned by NRW.

Therefore, Portigon AG's Managing Board makes the following statement pursuant to § 312 (3) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG):

"Based on circumstances known to us at the time the company entered into the transactions and undertook or refrained from undertaking the acts discussed in the report on relations with affiliated enterprises, our company received adequate consideration for each such transaction and did not suffer any disadvantage by reason of undertaking or refraining from undertaking such acts."

Risk Report

Based on the results of the risk inventory process conducted at the end of 2020, Portigon AG classifies strategic risk, operational risk (including legal risk) and pension risk as its remaining material risks.

Market price risk, liquidity risk, counterparty credit risk and HGB discount rate risk are considered immaterial risks for purposes of the Minimum Requirements for Risk Management (MaRisk).

Risk Management System

The goal of Portigon AG's risk management system is to ensure that the risk profile is aligned with the institution's risk-bearing capacity and that all relevant risks are presented transparently and steered with foresight. The core processes of risk management are determining, monitoring, analysing, steering and reporting on risks on an autonomous basis. A key element of the risk management processes is safeguarding Portigon AG's risk-bearing capacity through the use of an Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP).

Portigon AG's risk strategy, which is linked to the business strategy, forms the basis for monitoring and steering risk. It contains the principles and core elements of risk management, defines the types of risk that are material and immaterial for purposes of MaRisk and provides reasons for this classification. The Managing Board determines the business strategy and Portigon AG's risk strategy on an annual basis and discusses these with the Supervisory Board.

In the interests of a sustainable system of risk steering and monitoring, all risks are identified and the results processed in a transparent manner. Through the "Risk Situation Report" prepared every three months, the Managing Board and Supervisory Board regularly receive timely, unbiased, targeted information about all developments which are significant from the perspective of capital and risks. This report meets MaRisk requirements for risk reports. Portigon AG publishes additional qualitative and quantitative information in a separate, annual Disclosure Report pursuant to the CRR.

Strategic Risk

Strategic risk, which has been classified as a material risk, is defined as the unexpected failure to meet revenue and cost targets and the risk that planning assumptions might not materialise or might prove to be inaccurate. This risk also includes risks arising from strategically important past decisions. It essentially comprises the following aspects: dismantling of the EAA holdings, dismantling of key issues for Portigon AG, return of banking licences, closure of branches, outsourcing of major activities, tax risks and business risk.

As large portions of the strategic risk exposure are currently not quantified, this exposure is currently weighed against the unallocated sources of risk-bearing capacity in both the going-concern approach and the liquidation approach. Experts are assessing whether this is considered sufficient on the whole or whether a more precise approximation of the risk exposure is needed.

The downsizing progressed further in 2020, mostly according to plan. The number of transactions still reported on the balance sheet – some of them requiring a licence – has been reduced, allowing the plans to return individual limited licences to be advanced further.

The Bank received further recovery assessments in December 2020 in relation to the dividend arbitrage transactions of the former WestLB. Complete interest assessments related to the tax recoveries were also received. Provision for all assessments was made in the 2020 annual financial statements. Due to the Bank's objection, these are not yet legally binding.

Because of the far-reaching scope of the assessments, the Bank does not believe that there are any outstanding risks in a material amount with regard to the dividend arbitrage transactions of the former WestLB.

Following a detailed review with input from external legal advisors, Portigon AG assumes that it is entitled to reimbursement from EAA for the expenses incurred in connection with these transactions of the former WestLB. As EAA considers this claim to be unfounded, Portigon AG filed a corresponding action with the Frankfurt Regional Court on October 29, 2020.

Operational Risk

Operational risk refers to the risk of losses resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems at Portigon AG or from external events. The definition includes legal risks, but does not include reputational risks. However, strategic risks may in turn lead to operational risks.

Portigon AG defines operational risk (OpRisk) as a material risk for MaRisk purposes, to be monitored in conjunction with its risk-bearing capacity.

Material operational risks at Portigon AG are:

- risks arising from the transformation process/the restructuring of Portigon AG (e.g. personnel risks);
- further development of the legal risks arising from current and any future lawsuits;
- risks arising from major outsourcing arrangements (e.g. management of the outsourcing company by Portigon AG, reduced capacity or default of the current outsourcing company).

Among other things, operational risks may arise from business activities of the former WestLB. These include risks arising from tax issues as well as risks that may arise from disputes with hybrid capital investors regarding the extent of loss participation.

The Operational Risk & Compliance unit in the Risk Controlling business unit is in charge of defining the OpRisk management framework as well as related instruments and guidelines. It ensures that operational risk steering activities are consistent, records these and provides its expert opinion on them. Management of the operational risks in the business units is supported by the Operational Risk & Compliance unit. This ensures that the analysis, measurement, steering and monitoring of operational risks meet uniform standards of quality.

Operational Risk & Compliance cooperates closely with the specialist units, for example Auditing, Legal and IT/Vendor Management, on issues such as contingency planning, insurance, IT security and non-IT security.

For the remainder of the downsizing process we will continue to analyse and assess operational risks using instruments like the loss event database and risk self-assessment for bank processes and major outsourcing arrangements, so that we can introduce measures to minimise losses in a timely fashion.

Portigon AG uses the standardised approach pursuant to Article 317 of the Capital Requirements Regulation (CRR) to determine the regulatory capital charge for its operational risks.

Alignment of the economic OpRisk capital with the regulatory capital commitment is the approach used for Portigon AG. The risks calculated for regulatory purposes (risk-weighted assets) continue to be used for internal steering (economic capital commitment). For Portigon AG, the economic capital charge and the capital in stress testing for operational risk stood at \notin 3.6 million and \notin 4.5 million, respectively, as per December 31, 2020 (previous year: \notin 7.1 million and \notin 8.8 million, respectively). Where possible and prudent, insurance policies are taken out to cover the losses that could arise from operational risks. Portigon AG has central insurance cover.

The identification of legal risks, which are considered a subset of operational risks, in Germany is the responsibility of the Legal unit in the Corporate Steering business unit. This is carried out in close cooperation with the individual specialist units. Foreign legal risks are the responsibility of the foreign branches. Legal risks that materialise or are imminent are reduced or prevented to the greatest extent possible by implementing defined measures. In addition, suitable preventive countermeasures are introduced.

Adequate provisions have been made for legal risks arising from ongoing litigation.

Pension Risk

Pension risk arises in particular from the potential need to increase pension provisions, i.e. from the risk that pension obligations over the years will be higher than the figures determined by modelling mortality rates and the trend in salary increases for non-exempt employees and civil servants based on expert opinions.

Portigon AG considers pension risk a material risk within the meaning of MaRisk. Longevity risk and the risk presented by the trend in salary increases for non-exempt employees and civil servants are considered major risk factors that are taken into account in the risk-bearing capacity through a common risk exposure.

Longevity risk lies in the fact that the mortality rates modelled might not reflect reality in the future and the beneficiaries from Portigon AG might have a higher life expectancy and thus have longer de facto pension entitlements from Portigon AG than projected.

The risk presented by the trend in salary increases for non-exempt employees and civil servants lies in the fact that, in the commitments under the benevolent fund and the overall provision for old age, the pension increase is tied to the salary increases for non-exempt employees and civil servants and the actual increases might exceed the trend in the salary increases for civil servants or non-exempt employees assumed in the modelling of the payment obligations.

As a result of the scenario calculations performed by Mercer, the economic capital charge for the pension risk was increased to \notin 112.0 million (previously \notin 68.0 million) in the base scenario and to \notin 140.0 million (previously \notin 85.0 million) in the stress scenario in accordance with the resolution of the Managing Board on September 22, 2020.

Market Price Risk

Portigon AG's market price risks primarily arise from the investment of equity and excess liquidity, which follows strict investment guidelines.

Regulatory market risks continue to arise from future payments under pension obligations. Because the assumptions underlying the modeled payment obligations change over time, the bond structure selected to hedge these cash flows is no longer congruent with them. The resulting interest rate risk is hedged by means of market risk measurement, monitoring and management.

Portigon AG classifies the remaining market price risk as immaterial within the meaning of MaRisk.

Liquidity Risk

Portigon AG treats liquidity risk as an immaterial risk pursuant to MaRisk.

The Treasury unit in the Corporate Steering business unit is responsible for managing Portigon AG's liquidity. Over and above that, Risk Controlling independently monitors liquidity risks and prepares the regulatory reports on the liquidity position.

Our liquidity management differentiates between operating, tactical and strategic liquidity. The risk strategy defines the reporting instruments and steering goals for these individual time bands. The Managing Board sets the risk tolerance for the individual steering goals on this basis.

Operational liquidity management is intended to ensure Portigon AG's solvency in the short term and at all times. This is achieved through stringent monitoring of all of the Bank's remaining external nostro accounts.

Tactical liquidity management helps ensure the availability of sufficient liquidity for up to one year. In order to steer our tactical liquidity, we determine, on a daily basis, the contractual maturity profile of all assets and liabilities having an impact on liquidity and supplement it with information concerning the potential inflows and outflows from the liquidity reserve as well as effects from contingent liabilities and other drains on liquidity.

All of the model assumptions used in the stress test and their parameter calibration are subject to annual validation.

The purpose of strategic liquidity management is to ensure that Portigon AG is capable of satisfying its long-term liquidity requirements. Portigon AG's refinancing capacity will be guaranteed by its equity and by the liabilities remaining on its balance sheet post-transformation.

In the case of OTC derivatives transactions, Portigon AG enters into agreements on the provision of collateral. Compared to other liquidity risks, the liquidity risk posed by the collateral agreements executed is straightforward. The liquidity risk stemming from the derivatives transferred to EAA is covered by a collateral agreement with EAA.

Counterparty Credit Risk

Portigon AG classifies counterparty credit risk as an immaterial risk pursuant to MaRisk.

In accordance with the decision taken by the European Commission on December 20, 2011, Portigon AG may hold a limited volume of risk-weighted assets (RWA) only for a limited period of time. The investment of excess liquidity follows strict investment guidelines, and there is no significant credit risk (RWA weighting of zero, rating (long-term issuer rating) of at least AA– (Standard & Poor's) or Aa3 (Moody's), investments denominated in EUR and USD). The credit risk associated with assets which were transferred to EAA solely by synthetic means corresponds to the credit risk of the guarantor EAA. Because this risk has a low probability of occurrence, it is insignificant from an economic standpoint.

The review, evaluation, monitoring, steering and decision-making in respect of counterparty credit risks are based on documented, uniform standards and processes. Internal credit risk steering is based on the Credit Risk Standard Approach (CRSA); Portigon AG uses a simplified risk classification procedure that complies with MaRisk.

HGB Discount Rate Risk

Portigon AG recognises provisions in its balance sheet for direct pension commitments, discounting the future obligations at the balance sheet date using the HGB discount rate. The HGB discount rate risk involves increasing the reported pension provisions as a consequence of a sharper drop in the HGB discount rate than estimated in the capital planning.

The HGB discount rate risk is classified as an immaterial risk type because current interest rates and the specified interest rate (based on a ten-year history) increasingly converge over time.

Capital Utilisation

Usage of Regulatory Capital

Portigon AG calculates its ratios according to the CRR/CRD IV framework. CRD IV and CRR are the EU directive and EU regulation through which the rules on the prudential supervision of banks attributable mainly to Basel III are being implemented at European level. Pursuant to Article 92 (1) CRR, the minimum Common Equity Tier 1 ratio is 4.5% and the minimum Tier 1 ratio is 6%; the capital requirement for the total capital ratio remains at 8%.

Taking into account the additional capital buffer requirements under the German Banking Act (KWG) and the additional capital requirement (surcharge for interest rate risks in the banking book), the minimum requirements are 7.0% for the Common Equity Tier 1 ratio and 13.1% for the total capital ratio.

Portigon AG exceeded the minimum requirements at all times in 2020.

Portigon AG has declared to BaFin that it is prepared to maintain its total capital ratio at all times, even in light of the expected losses projected for the following years.

	Dec. 31, 2020 € millions after result for the year	Dec. 31, 2019 € millions after result for the year
Risk-weighted assets	132.0	198.2
Counterparty credit risks	16.8	16.0
Credit valuation adjustment (CVA)	0.6	1.6
Operational risks	44.5	88.3
Total risk exposure amount for position, foreign-exchange and commodities risks	70.0	92.3
Own funds	521.0	701.2
Total capital ratio in %	394.8	353.8
Tier 1 capital	38.7	146.0
Tier 1 capital ratio in %	29.3	73.6
Common Equity Tier 1 capital	33.6	119.3
Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio in %	25.5	60.2

For more detailed information please refer to the section entitled "Risk-Weighted Assets and Capital Ratios".

Usage of Economic Capital (Risk-Bearing Capacity)

Portigon AG's risk-bearing capacity concept continues to distinguish between two steering frameworks. Here, Portigon AG makes use of the BaFin's provision allowing conventional going-concern approaches to be applied until further notice even after publication of the final version of the guidelines for risk-bearing capacity in 2018. As a result, the going-concern approach remains the primary steering framework. In addition, the liquidation approach is used to measure the risk-bearing capacity annually. The risk-bearing capacity is examined in both approaches over a period of twelve months from the respective reporting date.

In both the going-concern approach and the liquidation approach, regulatory capital is taken as the starting point for determining the risk-taking potential. Depending on which approach is used – the going-concern or liquidation approach – various amounts are deducted from the risk-taking potential to arrive at the available sources of risk-bearing capacity. Strategic risk, which is classified in the risk strategy as material for purposes of MaRisk, is currently not quantified in the risk-bearing capacity in the going-concern approach and in the liquidation approach, but is covered by the unallocated sources of risk-bearing capacity.

The risks classified in the reporting period as material for Portigon AG – operational risk and pension risk – were weighed against the risk appetite directly and monitored as part of regular reporting. Strategic risk is covered by the unallocated sources of risk-bearing capacity. This also serves to cover adverse business developments and risks that are not considered material. The risks defined as immaterial were monitored using separate operating limits or suitable processes such as the investment strategy. In the liquidation approach, the sources of risk-bearing capacity were measured in the reporting period against the material operational risk and pension risk and the immaterial market price risk and counterparty credit risk. Operational risks and pension risk were determined the same way as the stress scenario in the going-concern approach. The regulatory interest rate shock was used for market price risk, while counterparty credit risks were derived from the regulatory capital. The total risk exposure was calculated as the sum of the individual risks. Strategic risk is also covered by the unallocated sources of risk-bearing capacity in the liquidation approach. In addition to determining the sources of risk-bearing capacity over a twelve-month period, a longer-dated analysis identifying the sources of risk-bearing capacity through year-end 2023 was also performed.

In the going-concern approach, stress tests on the risk-bearing capacity were run on the operational risk and pension risk. On the basis of expert opinions and taking historical trends into account, the stress scenarios are calculated for operational risk and pension risk by adding a premium (factor of 1.25) to the basis risk and deriving the base scenario by calculating 80% of the stress value. The risk appetite was sufficient to cover potential negative developments in 2020.

Reverse stress testing is limited to the scenario of an EAA default. Were EAA to default, the credit risks and market price risks guaranteed by EAA as well as legal risks could revert back to Portigon AG. The risk of a default by EAA is deemed to be very low, since the only conceivable way it could default would be if either the State of North Rhine-Westphalia or the Federal Republic of Germany defaulted. Moreover, because the State of North Rhine-Westphalia is Portigon AG's main investor, a default by it would pose a direct risk to Portigon AG's ability to continue as a going concern. It does not make economic sense to hedge against the EAA default risk.

Concluding Remarks on the Risk Situation

Portigon AG classified strategic risk, operational risk and pension risk as material risks for purposes of MaRisk. All other types of risk were considered immaterial.

In the analysis of the risk-bearing capacity, the going-concern approach was still the primary steering framework for Portigon AG. Of the risks classified as material, pension risk and operational risk were weighted against the risk appetite directly and even under the assumptions made in the stress scenario did not put Portigon AG's risk-bearing capacity in jeopardy (twelve-month risk horizon), whereas strategic risk is not quantified and is weighted directly against the unallocated sources of risk-bearing capacity.

Portigon AG exceeded the capital backing required by the CRR at all times in 2020.

Opportunities Report

The opportunities of Portigon AG essentially relate to its ability, in conjunction with managing the remaining assets, to press ahead with the process of dismantling the former WestLB more quickly and more efficiently than currently projected for the next years. This applies both to personnel matters and organisational issues. There is potential for additional savings with respect to headcount reductions, the downsizing of the remaining IT platform and the related process adjustments. The degree to which cost savings above planned levels can be achieved or additional costs are incurred depends on the further course of the transformation and cannot be predicted at this time.

Another factor in this regard is the administration of the remaining items on the balance sheet, taking into account the conditions set by the European Commission including changes in the related risks. To what extent this process will lead to results that are better than those which are currently planned or captured on the balance sheet remains to be seen.

Events after the Reporting Period

Please refer to Note 45 for significant events after the reporting period that are required to be disclosed in the notes pursuant to § 285 No. 33 of the German Commercial Code (HGB).

Outlook

The further structural changes within Portigon AG will continue to have an effect on the company's cash flows, financial condition and results of operations in the coming years. There will be a further reduction in Portigon AG's total assets attributable to final maturities and various termination agreements.

In summary, it should be noted that both the further transformation process and the aforementioned risks remain replete with uncertainty. This may have an adverse effect on the company's cash flows, financial condition and results of operations. Medium-term expectations for Portigon AG indicate that income will remain insufficient to cover the administrative expenses which continue to be incurred at this time. We are proceeding on the assumption that for the 2021 fiscal year Portigon AG will show a loss of around € 140 million. The occurrence of additional restructuring expenses and possible expenses arising from risks materialising depends on the further course of the transformation and, among other things, on the development of pension liabilities.

Portigon AG Balance Sheet as at December 31, 2020

Assets

€€	31. 12. 2020 €	31. 12. 2019 € thousands
1. Cash		
a) balances with central banks 747,704,384.51		1,085,387
thereof:	747,704,384.51	1,085,387
with Deutsche Bundesbank		
€ 746,413,575.15 (2019: € 911,694 thousand)		
2. Debt instruments issued by public institutions		
and bills of exchange eligible for refinancing		
with central banks		
a) treasury bills and discounted treasury		
notes as well as similar debt instruments		
issued by public institutions 13,853,579.38		20,732
	13,853,579.38	20,732
3. Claims on banks		
a) payable on demand 23,999,858.20		25,839
b) other 18,813,119.53		25,168
	42,812,977.73	51,007
4. Claims on customers	1,113,979,815.57	1,395,028
thereof:	, .,,.	,,.
loans to public authorities and entities		
under public law		
€ 1,112,319,635.20 (2019: € 1,393,542 thousand)		
5. Bonds and other interest-bearing securities		
a) bonds and notes		
aa) of public institutions748,825,018.03		962,132
thereof:		,02,102
eligible as collateral for		
Deutsche Bundesbank advances		
€ 708,642,600.62 (2019: € 739,099 thousand)		
ab) of other issuers 0.00		403,472
748,825,018.03		1,365,604
	748,825,018.03	1,365,604
6. Equity investments in affiliated companies	1,150,348.23	1,495
thereof:	.,	.,.,.
financial services		
€ 375,000.00 (2019: € 720 thousand)		
7. Trust assets	151,314,638.91	280,093
8. Tangible assets	66,353.25	149
9. Other assets	4,880,021.04	23,683
10. Deferred items	23,307,441.49	50,109
Total assets	2,847,894,578.14	4,273,288
	2,047,074,370.14	4,273,20

Liabilities

		31. 12. 2020	31. 12. 2019
1. Liabilities to banks	€€	€	€ thousands
a) payable on demand	64,382.44		3,650
b) with agreed maturity or period of notice	0.00		1,973
		64,382.44	5,623
2. Liabilities to customers			
a) other liabilities			
aa) payable on demand	2,369,447.58		8,827
ab) with agreed maturity or			
period of notice	34,691,571.91		575,176
	37,061,019.49		584,003
		37,061,019.49	584,003
3. Trust liabilities		151,314,638.91	280,093
4. Other liabilities		626,548,687.92	336,798
5. Deferred items		23,877,683.81	72,028
6. Provisions			
a) for pensions and similar obligations			
after offsetting against plan assets	737,293,716.15		714,789
b) tax reserve	221,398,714.68		300,070
c) other	294,019,559.71	1 252 711 000 54	445,425
		1,252,711,990.54	1,400,284
7. Subordinated liabilities		520,015,267.23	697,278
8. Equity capital			
a) subscribed capital divided into			
Class A registered shares	498,649,007.45		498,649
Class B registered shares	0.00		0
	498,649,007.45		498,649
b) silent contributions to capital	202,604,755.89		717,800
c) retained loss	-464,952,855.54		-379,268
		236,300,907.80	837,181
Total liabilities		2,847,894,578.14	4,273,288
1. Contingent liabilities			
a) liabilities from guarantees and			
indemnity agreements	5,614,629.05		7,885
		5,614,629.05	7,885

Portigon AG Statement of Income

for the Period January 1 to December 31, 2020

	€	1. 1.−31. 12. 2020 € €	
1. Interest from			
a) lending and money market transactions	172,291,786.45		175,774
b) interest-bearing securities and			
book-entry securities	6,288,544.51		7,391
	178,580,33	30.96	183,165
2. Negative interest from			
a) lending and money market transactions	3,503,11	3.30	4,222
3. Interest paid	276,933,13	35.93	347,481
		-101,855,918.27	-168,538
4. Current income from			
a) equity investments in affiliated companies	216,51	8.00	311
		216,518.00	311
5. Commission income	773,07	9.84	2,353
6. Commission paid	716,93	36.75	1,444
		56,143.09	909
7. Other operating income		22,994,255.83	36,519
8. General administrative expenses			
a) personnel expenses			
aa) wages and salaries	9,167,914.96		11,729
ab) compulsory social security			
contributions and expenses for			
pensions and other employee benefits	15,729,974.48		15,854
thereof:	24,897,88	39.44	27,583
for pensions			
€ 12,381,841.83 (2019: € 11,868 thousand)			
b) other administrative expenses	40,299,55	9.57	39,485
		65,197,449.01	67,069
9. Depreciation and value adjustments			
on tangible and intangible assets		77,681.38	84
10. Other operating expenses		72,386,114.94	94,950
	To be carried forw	vard: -216,250,246.68	-292,902

		€€	1. 1.−31. 12. 2020 €	1. 1.−31. 12. 2019 € thousands
		Carried forward:	-216,250,246.68	-292,902
11.	Income from revaluation of loans and certain			
	securities as well as from the reversal of			
	loan-loss provisions		2,053,355.54	0
12.	Write-downs and value adjustments			
	on equity investments in non-affiliated			
	companies, equity investments in			
	affiliated companies and securities			
	treated as fixed assets		387,428.52	169
13.	Profit or loss on ordinary activities		-214,584,319.66	-293,071
14.	Extraordinary income	18,091,332.19		10,359
15.	Extraordinary expenses	56,155.35		4,845
16.	Extraordinary result		18,035,176.84	5,514
17.	Taxes on income and revenues	402,629,213.60		294,023
18.	Other taxes not shown under item 10	1,701,271.30		833
			404,330,484.90	294,856
19.	Net loss for the year		-600,879,627.72	-582,413
20.	Loss carried forward from the previous year		379,268,329.80	297,598
21.	Withdrawals from profit participation capital		0.00	4,278
22.	Withdrawals from silent contributions to capital		515,195,101.98	496,464
23.	Retained loss		-464,952,855.54	-379,268

Notes to the Financial Statements at December 31, 2020

General Information

1. Mandatory Disclosures in Accordance with § 264 (1a) HGB

Portigon AG, which is domiciled in Düsseldorf, Germany, is entered in the commercial register of the Düsseldorf Local Court under No. HRB 42975.

2. Preparation of the Annual Financial Statements

Portigon AG is required to prepare annual financial statements and a management report in accordance with § 242 in conjunction with § 264 of the German Commercial Code (HGB).

The annual financial statements of Portigon AG are prepared in accordance with the provisions of the German Commercial Code (HGB), the Accounting Ordinance for Banks and Financial Services Institutions (RechKredV) and the relevant provisions of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). Information which may appear either on the balance sheet or in the Notes has been included in the Notes.

The annual financial statements are submitted to the operator of the Bundesanzeiger (Federal Gazette; www.bundesanzeiger.de) and published in accordance with § 325 and § 328 of the German Commercial Code (HGB).

3. Accounting Policies

Assets, liabilities and pending transactions are measured in accordance with §§ 252 et seq. and §§ 340 et seq. of the German Commercial Code (HGB).

Claims are reported at their outstanding principal balances less any unamortised discounts. Liabilities are carried at their settlement amounts, with any related discounts reported as assets under deferred items. Premiums on claims and liabilities are reported under deferred items as an asset or liability, respectively. Deferred items in the form of premiums and discounts from issues and lending are measured using the effective interest method. The accrued interest on a claim or liability at year-end is included with the claim or liability to which it applies, except in the case of subordinated liabilities. Treasury bills and non-interest-bearing treasury bonds are discounted and shown with the effective discount rate. Zero-coupon bonds issued are carried as liabilities at their issue price plus accrued interest assuming a constant effective interest rate.

Discernible risks with claims are adequately covered by individual value adjustments and provisions. Latent risks from claims are covered by provision reserves formed in accordance with § 340f of the German Commercial Code (HGB).

Securities treated as fixed assets (long-term investments) are measured at cost. Any difference between cost and the redemption amount is recognised on a pro rata basis in income. Where a decline in value is expected to be permanent, they are written down to the lower fair value. Any such securities carried at a value higher than their current market value because of application of the modified lower of cost or market principle are shown separately in the Notes. This information is subject to change over time because of portfolio changes, as well as movements in interest rates and/or market value.

Repurchase agreements and reverse repurchase agreements are combinations of a spot purchase or sale of securities with a simultaneous forward sale or repurchase transaction entered into with the same party. Securities purchased with an obligation to sell (reverse repurchase agreements), and securities sold with an obligation to repurchase (repurchase agreements), are generally regarded as collateralised financial transactions. The securities pledged under repurchase agreements (spot sale) are still recognised as part of the securities portfolio. The cash deposit received as part of the repurchase agreement, including accrued interest, is recognised as a liability. In the case of reverse repurchase agreements, a corresponding claim is recognised including accrued interest. The underlying securities received in pledge (spot purchase) are not recognised on the balance sheet.

The accounting treatment of structured financial instruments follows the accounting practice statement issued by the Institute of Public Auditors in Germany (Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer – IDW) concerning when and when not to treat the components of structured financial instruments separately for accounting purposes (IDW RS HFA 22).

Portigon AG has qualified as a non-trading-book institution within the meaning of § 13 of the German Banking Act (KWG) since September 1, 2012. Portigon has had no trading portfolio to report since that date.

During the transformation in 2012, there was a synthetic transfer of derivatives by means of a risk transfer agreement to EAA. The execution of the agreement created a fiduciary relationship, i.e. fiduciary trust, under German commercial law, with Portigon AG as the trustee and EAA as the grantor. A derecognition of these derivatives held in trust for EAA was impermissible despite the transfer in full of the opportunities and risks inherent in them because the legal obligations under the derivatives had not been extinguished, i.e. the obligations had not been satisfied, cancelled or reached expiration. Until there is a settlement of or legal release from the obligations or the obligations are transferred in rem to EAA, these derivatives and corresponding offsetting items will continue to be reported on Portigon AG's balance sheet. As a result, the derivatives and corresponding compensation claims and liabilities vis-a-vis EAA are reported as trust assets and trust liabilities pursuant to § 6 (1) of the Accounting Ordinance for Banks and Financial Services Institutions (RechKredV). Further subsequent measurement at fair value beyond December 31, 2014 was decided against, however. Since then, derivatives and corresponding compensation claims and liabilities have been measured at amortised cost, the basis of which is the fair value most recently determined at December 31, 2014.

The items held in trust for EAA have no effect on the statement of income since the income from these derivatives is to be passed on directly to EAA and the expenses from them are to be reimbursed by EAA. Income contributions from these derivatives and compensation items are presented in their net amounts.

The measurement of financial instruments sometimes requires that management make assumptions and estimates which are based on subjective assessments and inevitably entail forecasting uncertainties. Even when our estimates are based on available information, past experience and other criteria, actual future events may still vary, which can have a not insignificant impact on our cash flows, financial condition and results of operations. We believe the employed parameters are appropriate and justifiable.

If Portigon AG uses financial instruments to hedge specific risks (e.g. interest rate risks) from assets, liabilities, pending transactions or highly probable forecast transactions and creates a valuation unit for this purpose, it is not required to apply the general accounting and measurement conventions to the hedge (including, in particular, the principle of individual valuation as well as the historical cost convention, realisation principle and imparity principle) as long as the hedge is effective. The ineffective portion of the hedge as well as any other unhedged risks remain subject to the general accounting and measurement rules. Portigon AG does not have any valuation unit within the meaning of § 254 of the German Commercial Code (HGB) at this time.

Portigon AG steers the general interest rate risk in its banking book centrally, as part of asset/liability management. In accordance with a so-called loss-free valuation of interestbased banking book transactions, Portigon AG determines on a present value basis whether there is a sufficient volume of counterclaims to offset the value of its obligations. To the extent that measurement of the aggregate interest rate position of the banking book, taking into account prorated administrative and risk costs, reveals an excess liability, the principle of prudence in German financial accounting requires the recognition of a provision pursuant to § 340a in conjunction with § 249 (1) Sentence 1 No. 2 of the German Commercial Code (HGB) (provision for anticipated losses). When forming this provision, the accounting practice statement issued by the Institute of Public Auditors in Germany (Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer – IDW) concerning the measurement of interest-based banking book transactions is used for guidance (IDW RS BFA 3, new version). The formation of a provision was not necessary in this regard.

Shares in subsidiaries are presented under equity investments in affiliated companies, whereas other shares that serve to create a long-term relationship with another company are reported under equity investments in non-affiliated companies. If this intended purpose does not come about, they will be presented under other assets.

Equity investments in non-affiliated companies, to the extent that any are held, and investments in affiliated companies are carried at cost. Where a decline in value is expected to be permanent, they are written down to the lower fair value. Existing collateral, particularly guarantees, is taken into account in the measurement of the write-downs. Pursuant to § 340c (2) of the German Commercial Code (HGB), expenses arising from write-downs of equity investments in affiliated and non-affiliated companies and securities treated as fixed assets are offset by the income from write-ups as well as by the expenses and income from transactions with such assets.

Tangible assets and intangible assets acquired against payment are depreciated or amortised over their expected useful lives. Low-value assets are reported using the simplification rules under German tax regulations.

The other assets are recognised at the lower of cost or market.

Provisions are recognised at the settlement amount that is required by prudent business judgement. When measuring provisions, companies are required to recognise increases in costs and prices. In the case of pension provisions, this especially means wage and salary increases as well as a pension index. The discounting of provisions with a residual term of over one year is to be done using the average market interest rate of the previous seven fiscal years, taking into consideration the residual maturity of the provisions or their underlying liabilities. In contrast, the ten-year average interest rate is relevant for the discounting of provisions for post-employment benefit obligations. Yield curves are published at the end of each month on the Deutsche Bundesbank website.

As none of Portigon AG's provisions stem from the banking business, income/expenses arising from changes in the relevant discount rate over the previous year – to the extent that they cannot be ascribed to the extraordinary result – are reported in the other operating result.

Assets that meet the requirements for offsetting plan assets in accordance with § 246 (2) Sentence 2 of the German Commercial Code (HGB) are measured at their fair value in accordance with § 253 (1) Sentence 4 of the German Commercial Code (HGB) and offset against the related post-employment benefit obligations.

In the past, any gains or losses arising on the transfer of liabilities in return for consideration in connection with the downsizing of Portigon AG were presented in the other operating result. Since the previous year, any gains or losses arising in similar circumstances have been presented under interest income or interest paid. The reason for this deviation from the principle of consistency of presentation is that the difference between the carrying amount of the liability transferred and the consideration arising from the transfer is frequently attributable to interest rates. Moreover, because the accrued interest at the time of the premature unwinding of any interest rate swaps possibly concluded in connection with the liabilities shall be presented in net interest income, allocating the gains or losses arising from the transfer of the liabilities concerned to net interest income provides greater clarity and transparency of presentation. Apart from that, this deviation from the previous form of presentation does not have any effect on the Bank's presentation of assets and liabilities, financial position and results of operations. Thus, the change in method constitutes a justified exception to the principle of consistency of presentation in accordance with § 265 (1) of the German Commercial Code (HGB).

The negative interest paid for cash holdings is reported separately in the statement of income in an item added after interest income.

As long as banking services are involved, income from fees for portfolio services we provide to our customers is reported as commission income.

All of the transactions in the reporting period and in the previous year between Portigon AG and related parties were conducted on an arm's length basis. Therefore, there was no need for any disclosures pursuant to § 285 No. 21 of the German Commercial Code (HGB).

Foreign currency translation for assets and liabilities is handled in accordance with the provisions of § 256a and § 340h of the German Commercial Code (HGB). For risk management purposes, Portigon AG places foreign currency positions in specially designated books where they are centrally managed and thus classified as specifically covered. The corresponding expenses and income from translating these specifically covered transactions into the reporting currency are reported on a net basis in other operating expenses/income.

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, as well as unsettled spot deals, are translated using the average spot exchange rate effective on the reporting date. Unsettled forward contracts are carried at the market value on that date. Hedged expenses and income are translated at the respective hedging rate. Swap premiums on balance sheet items hedged for foreign exchange risk are deferred and amortised over time. The amortisation amounts are included in the interest result.

Differences between the carrying amounts of assets, liabilities or deferred items and their tax base that are expected to reverse in future fiscal years are recognised as deferred taxes. Any resulting aggregate tax liability must be carried as deferred tax liabilities, whereas any resulting tax benefit may be recognised as deferred tax assets. In addition to the temporary differences, tax loss carryforwards are taken into consideration when calculating deferred tax assets. Portigon exercises the option of carrying deferred tax assets in accordance with § 274 (1) Sentence 2 of the German Commercial Code (HGB). However, it does not make use of the option to present the resulting deferred tax assets and liabilities gross in accordance with § 274 (1) Sentence 3 of the German Commercial Code (HGB).

The deferred taxes are measured at the individual tax rates of the company applicable at the balance sheet date or which have already been approved by the legislator and are expected to apply until the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are utilised. When determining taxes in Germany, a corporate income tax rate of 15% plus 5.5% solidarity surcharge thereon and a trade tax rate were applied, taking the applicable assessment rates into account.

Notes to the Balance Sheet

4. Claims on Banks

	Dec. 31, 2020 € millions	Dec. 31, 2019 € millions
Payable on demand	24.0	25.8
With residual maturities of		
– up to 3 months	-	2.2
– between 1 and 5 years	18.8	-
– more than 5 years	-	23.0
Book value	42.8	51.0

Of the claims on banks reported on the balance sheet, the sum of \in 4.2 million (previous year: \in 2.9 million) is guaranteed by EAA.

5. Claims on Customers

	Dec. 31, 2020 € millions	Dec. 31, 2019 € millions
With residual maturities of		
- up to 3 months	31.2	61.9
- between 3 months and 1 year	-	0.4
– between 1 and 5 years	-	139.3
– more than 5 years	1,082.8	1,193.4
Book value	1,114.0	1,395.0
thereof:		
– affiliated companies	-	-
- from the leasing business	-	_

Of the claims on customers reported on the balance sheet, the sum of \in 87.3 million was guaranteed by EAA in the previous year.

The decrease in claims on customers is largely attributable to a premature partial dissolution of cross-border lease transactions in connection with the downsizing and to loans transferred to EAA.

6. Bonds and Other Interest-Bearing Securities

	Dec. 31, 2020 € millions	Dec. 31, 2019 € millions
Book value	748.8	1,365.6
thereof:		
amounts becoming due before December 31 of the following fiscal year	159.3	19.1
Breakdown by product		
- bonds and notes of public-sector issuers	748.8	962.1
– bonds and notes of other issuers	-	403.5
Breakdown by marketability		
– marketable securities	748.8	1,365.6
thereof:		
- listed on a stock exchange	708.6	1,142.6
– not listed on a stock exchange	40.2	223.0

Of the bonds and other interest-bearing securities reported on the balance sheet, the sum of \in 12.1 million was guaranteed by EAA in the previous year.

The decrease is mainly due to the disposal of the investment with matching maturities resulting from the premature termination of interest rate swaps.

As was the case in the previous year, all bonds and other interest-bearing securities have been assigned to the investment portfolio, which makes them part of fixed assets. At the balance sheet date, no financial assets were carried at the modified lower of cost or market, whereas in the previous year assets of \in 219.9 million were carried at a fair value of \notin 217.5 million.

Securities from affiliated companies or other companies in which equity instruments are held are not included in the investment portfolio.

7. Equity Investments in Affiliated Companies

	Dec. 31, 2020 € millions	Dec. 31, 2019 € millions
Book value	1.2	1.5
thereof:		
- financial services institutions	0.4	0.7

The change in the portfolio of \in 0.3 million is attributable to the further write-down of the carrying amount of the investment in Portigon Finance Curaçao N.V.

The book values of Portigon AG's equity investments in affiliated companies correspond to their fair values.

8. Trust Assets

	Dec. 31, 2020 € millions	Dec. 31, 2019 € millions
Other assets	151.3	280.1
Book value	151.3	280.1

The other assets shown as trust assets in the reporting period comprise derivatives transferred to EAA under the risk transfer agreement as well as investments in closed-end real estate funds that are held in trust.

The decrease in trust assets is due to maturities and the subsequent transfer in rem (novation) to EAA of a portion of these derivatives. For information on the measurement of this item, please refer to Note 3.

9. Fixed Assets

€ millions	Bonds and	Equity	Equity	Intangible	Office
	other interest-	investments in	investments in	assets	equipment
	bearing	non-affiliated	affiliated		
	securities	companies	companies		
Acquisition/production costs					
Dec. 31, 2019	1,365.6	-	1.5	-	1.5
Additions				-	-
Retirements				-	0.9
Reclassifications				-	_
Effects from currency conversion				-	-0.0
Acquisition/production costs Dec. 31, 2020				-	0.6
Cumulated write-downs Dec. 31, 2019		inge pursuant to § ntence 2 RechKrec		_	1.4
Depreciation in the fiscal year		–€ 617.1 million	, 	-	0.1
Appreciation			-	-	_
Retirements			-	-	0.9
Reclassifications				-	_
Effects from currency conversion				-	-0.0
Cumulated write-downs Dec. 31, 2020			-	-	0.5
Book value Dec. 31, 2020	748.8	_	1.2	-	0.1
Book value Dec. 31, 2019	1,365.6	-	1.5	-	0.1

There were no write-downs of any securities treated as fixed assets in 2020, since no lasting impairment was expected.

10. Other Assets

	Dec. 31, 2020 € millions	Dec. 31, 2019 € millions
Book value	4.9	23.7
thereof:		
- claims from tax refunds	0.4	17.4

11. Deferred Items

	Dec. 31, 2020 € millions	Dec. 31, 2019 € millions
Deferred items from reclassification of trading positions	21.5	42.5
Discounts from liabilities	0.8	0.9
Other	1.0	6.7
Book value	23.3	50.1

The deferred items resulting from the reclassification of trading positions at Portigon AG in 2012 are predominantly the amortising market values of swaps previously assigned to the trading portfolio as well as the amortising premiums and discounts from money market transactions that were assigned to the trading portfolio prior to the reclassification.

12. Assets Sold under Repurchase Agreements

There were no assets sold under repurchase agreements reported under any item in the balance sheet at the reporting date.

13. Liabilities to Banks

	Dec. 31, 2020 € millions	Dec. 31, 2019 € millions
Payable on demand	0.1	3.7
With residual maturities of		
- up to 3 months	-	2.0
Book value	0.1	5.6

14. Liabilities to Customers

	Dec. 31, 2020 € millions	Dec. 31, 2019 € millions
Payable on demand	2.4	8.8
With residual maturities of		
– up to 3 months	0.7	1.8
– between 3 months and 1 year	-	0.3
– between 1 and 5 years	34.0	35.5
– more than 5 years	-	537.6
Book value	37.1	584.0
thereof:		
- liabilities to affiliated companies	2.0	2.4

The decrease is mainly due to the premature dissolution of cross-border lease transactions.

15. Trust Liabilities

	Dec. 31, 2020 € millions	Dec. 31, 2019 € millions
Liabilities to customers	94.5	97.8
Other liabilities	56.8	182.3
Book value	151.3	280.1

Trust liabilities in the reporting year comprise only the compensation liabilities to trust assets.

The decrease in trust liabilities is due to maturities and the subsequent transfer in rem (novation) to EAA of a portion of these derivatives. For information on the measurement of this item, please refer to Note 3.

16. Other Liabilities

	Dec. 31, 2020 € millions	Dec. 31, 2019 € millions
Book value	626.5	336.8
thereof:		
– tax liabilities	598.6	305.9
- offsetting item from the valuation of currency transactions	10.8	11.5
- accrued interest for borrower's note loans and subordinated liabilities	9.3	10.8
- liabilities from mature profit paticipation rights	-	6.2

After receiving amended tax assessments for corporate income tax, solidarity surcharge and tax interest in accordance with § 233a of the German Tax Code (AO) for the years 2005 up to and including 2008 based on the final report by the Düsseldorf Tax Office for Tax Offences and Tax Investigation on dividend arbitrage transactions of the former WestLB in November and December 2020, the amounts previously recognised in provisions and additionally assessed are reported as part of other liabilities. The amended tax and interest assessments were contested and are not final. By way of an assessment on February 2, 2021, interest on corporate income tax 2005 to 2008 relating to the period starting on January 1, 2012 was suspended from enforcement in the amount of € 277.3 million as requested, as the constitutionality of the tax interest charged for this period is currently being examined by the Federal Constitutional Court.

17. Deferred Items

The deferred items in the amount of \notin 23.9 million (previous year: \notin 72.0 million) resulting in particular from the reclassification of trading positions at Portigon AG in 2012 largely correspond to the amortising market values of swaps previously assigned to the trading portfolio as well as the amortising premiums and discounts from money market transactions that were assigned to the trading portfolio prior to the reclassification.

18. Provisions

Independent actuaries measure the present value of the post-employment benefit obligations of Portigon AG using the projected unit credit method, taking future salary and pension increases into account. The parameters and assumptions used in calculating the present value of the liabilities under the pension plans set up in Germany were as follows:

	Dec. 31, 2020
Discount rate	2.30 %
Wage and salary index	2.50 %
Pension index	2.00 %
Fluctuation	5.00 %
Mortality tables	Heubeck-Richttafeln 2018 G

Pension liability insurance policies have been concluded to hedge post-employment benefit obligations and other pension obligations reported under other provisions to individual beneficiaries of Portigon AG. Insofar as the entitlements under these pension liability insurance policies are exempt from access by all other creditors and serve exclusively to settle liabilities from post-employment benefit obligations and similar long-term liabilities, these plan assets are offset against the liabilities in accordance with § 246 (2) Sentence 2 of the German Commercial Code (HGB). In accordance with § 253 (1) Sentence 4 of the German Commercial Code (HGB), the plan assets are measured at fair value through profit or loss using actuarial principles. The liabilities in question were carried in the amount of the excess of liabilities over assets remaining after offsetting as follows:

	Plan Assets		Associated Liabilities	
€ millions	Acquisition cost	Fair value	Before offsetting	After offsetting
Post-employment benefit obligations	46.5	48.0	785.3	737.3
Other pension liabilities	0.4	0.4	131.2	130.8
Total	46.9	48.3	916.5	868.1

At the balance sheet date, the fair value of the plan assets of \notin 48.3 million exceeds their cost of \notin 46.9 million. Limited to the individual liabilities whose associated plan assets show a positive difference between the fair value and the cost, a difference of \notin 2.8 million (previous year: \notin 2.3 million) arises that is non-distributable in the full amount in accordance with § 268 (8) of the German Commercial Code (HGB).

Provisions for post-employment benefit obligations are measured using the average market interest rate for the past ten fiscal years (2.30%) in accordance with § 253 (2) Sentence 1 of the German Commercial Code (HGB). Measurement applying the seven-year average interest rate (1.60%) leads to the following difference at the balance sheet date in accordance with § 253 (6) of the German Commercial Code (HGB) (based on the obligations before offsetting against plan assets within the meaning of § 246 (2) Sentence 2 of the German Commercial Code (HGB)):

	Dec. 31, 2020 € millions	Dec. 31, 2019 € millions
Measurement of obligations using the ten-year average interest rate	785.3	762.4
Measurement of obligations using the seven-year average interest rate	866.0	843.4
Difference in accordance with § 253 (6) HGB	80.8	81.0

The entire difference is non-distributable in accordance with § 253 (6) Sentence 3 of the German Commercial Code (HGB). Please refer to Note 21.

In accordance with § 246 (2) Sentence 2 of the German Commercial Code (HGB), the income of \notin 0.4 million from the measurement of the plan assets was offset against the interest cost on provisions.

Tax provisions of \notin 221.4 million (previous year: \notin 300.1 million) include provisions for outstanding income tax assessments in Germany of \notin 212.0 million and for tax audit risks in Germany and abroad of \notin 9.4 million.

After receiving amended assessments for corporate income tax, solidarity surcharge and tax interest in accordance with § 233a of the German Tax Code (AO) for the years 2005 up to and including 2008 based on the final report by the Düsseldorf Tax Office for Tax Offences and Tax Investigation on dividend arbitrage transactions of the former WestLB in November and December 2020, the amounts previously recognised in provisions and additionally assessed are reported as part of other liabilities. Please refer to Note 16.

Portigon AG's other provisions consist of provisions for restructuring of \notin 71.4 million (previous year: \notin 107.0 million), personnel-related provisions of \notin 131.9 million (previous year: \notin 152.3 million) and miscellaneous provisions of \notin 90.8 million (previous year: \notin 186.1 million).

The item miscellaneous provisions contains, among other things, \in 48.2 million (previous year: \in 44.2 million) for the obligation to indemnify arising from an assumption of the obligation to perform vis-a-vis Erste Financial Services GmbH (EFS). By way of an agreement dated February 17, 2016, Portigon AG transferred all interests in its service subsidiary EFS to EAA. By way of an assumption of an obligation to perform in an agreement dated April 4, 2016 and with effect from the transfer date (December 31, 2015), Portigon AG assumed for EFS's benefit the pension liabilities from entitlements under pension plans vested up until the expiry of the termination date (but not beyond December 31, 2020) arising from pension commitments by EFS in existence at the transfer date. By way of an agreement dated December 11, 2017, the obligation to indemnify vis-a-vis the employment contracts of EFS employees transferred to a third party as of December 1, 2017 in accordance with § 613a of the German Civil Code (BGB) was reversed in some cases. All liabilities incurred by Portigon AG to cover the post-employment benefit obligations of the employees affected by the transfer of the EFS business expire from this date.

Portigon AG's obligation to indemnify that was assumed against payment and arose from the assumption of the obligation to perform does not constitute a pension obligation or a similar obligation. Consequently, this must be measured using the general principles for provisions. The fee received was recognised at the acquisition date. In subsequent measurement, the obligation will be added to the carrying amount by applying the interest rate underlying this consideration. At the balance sheet date, the measurement in accordance with actuarial principles using the projected unit credit method and discounted using the seven-year average interest rate exceeded the amortised cost plus accrued interest. The liability was carried at this higher amount.

Furthermore, the item miscellaneous provisions contains, among other amounts, \notin 1.8 million (previous year: \notin 3.4 million) for reimbursement commitments relating to the pension obligations transferred to NRW.BANK in 2013 (service cost) and \notin 2.0 million (previous year: \notin 1.4 million) for potential litigation risks.

The \in 67.5 million (previous year: \in 76.5 million) in interest cost on provisions unrelated to banking operations of Portigon AG is reported in other operating expenses.
19. Subordinated Liabilities

	Dec. 31, 2020 € millions	Dec. 31, 2019 € millions
Book value	520.0	697.3
thereof:		
- to affiliated companies	348.6	505.7

Of the total subordinated liabilities, € 36.0 million (previous year: € 160.0 million) at Portigon AG have a residual maturity of less than two years. The original maturities range from 13 to 35 years.

Portigon AG incurred interest expense of \notin 17.0 million in connection with its subordinated liabilities (previous year: \notin 18.6 million). The subordinated liabilities carried by Portigon AG itself comply with the requirements of Article 63 of the CRR; the right to terminate the liabilities without notice has not been reserved.

The following raised funds exceed 10% of the total subordinated liabilities at December 31, 2020:

Currency	Amount	Interest rate	Maturity
JPY	10,000,000,000	0.52 %	March 23, 2029

The terms of issue prohibit a premature repayment obligation for these subordinated liabilities. A premature termination option has not been granted to either Portigon AG or the creditors.

20. Equity Capital

The subscribed capital of Portigon AG was € 498.6 million at December 31, 2020 (previous year: € 498.6 million). It was divided into 22,695,306 (previous year: 22,695,306) no-par value registered Class A shares. The notional portion of each no-par value share is € 21.97 (previous year: € 21.97). All shares carry the same voting rights. For information concerning our current shareholder structure, please see Note 40.

Portigon AG is reporting a net loss for the 2020 fiscal year of € 600.9 million.

Portigon AG issued silent contributions to capital in 2005, with one tranche totalling USD 300.0 million and the other \notin 240.0 million (for a combined total of \notin 469.4 million). The agreements concerning these silent contributions to capital provide that the silent partners shall share in an annual balance sheet loss in the proportion which the book value of the silent contribution bears to the aggregate book value of all loss-sharing components of the Bank's liable core capital. The silent partners are being allocated a portion of the relevant loss for 2020 equal to \notin 63.7 million (previous year: \notin 62.1 million).

Pursuant to the agreement of December 12, 2009 concerning a silent participation on the part of the Financial Market Stabilisation Fund (FMS), FMS paid its entire silent contribution to capital in the amount of \in 3,000.0 million in three instalments over the course of the 2009 and 2010 fiscal years. The parties executed agreements that were dated August 22, 24 and 25, 2012 and had an effective transfer date of September 1, 2012 under which they agreed to a partial sale of FMS's silent contribution to capital to the State of North Rhine-Westphalia (NRW) with a prorated original value of \in 1,000.0 million and an actual prorated value of \in 893.2 million due to loss participations in prior years.

The original agreement on establishing the silent partnership was not amended and still provides for the silent partner's participation in any annual balance sheet loss, in proportion to the share the nominal value of the contribution bears to the total carrying value of all liable capital elements participating in the loss (§ 10 (2a), (4) and (5) of the old version of the German Banking Act [KWG]). The total amount the silent partners can absorb from losses is limited to the amount of their silent contributions to the capital. The silent partners are being allocated a portion of the relevant loss for 2020 equal to € 451.5 million (previous year: € 434.4 million). Portigon AG's Managing Board was authorised by the extraordinary shareholders' meeting held on April 23, 2010 to grant FMS the option of converting all or part of the silent contribution to capital into shares of Portigon AG. To this end, a new class of shares was created (originally Class C, now Class B), with a preferred dividend of 10%, a preferred stake in any proceeds from the sale of divisions and subsidiaries, and senior ranking in the event of liquidation. FMS's stake may not exceed 49.9% of the share capital. The agreement on the granting of the conversion right was signed in April 2010. As a result of the partial sale of the silent contribution to capital to NRW, the agreement on the conversion right was amended by an agreement of August 26, 2012, including the restated agreement between FMS and Portigon AG concerning the granting of a conversion right. The amended agreements are consistent with previous agreements. This includes, in particular, the provisions on the possibility of exercising the conversion right, on determining the number of new shares to be issued and their relationship to the shares issued prior to the conversion, on the maximum stake in the share capital of 49.9% and the new Class B, formerly Class C, preferred shares. FMS is the only party that can exercise the conversion right. Thus far, it has not been exercised.

On the basis of a loss carryforward from the previous year of € 379.3 million, a loss of € 465.0 million remains after loss allocation, including the loss participation of the profit participation certificate holders and silent partners.

	Balance Dec. 31, 2019 € millions	Withdrawals/ loss allocation € millions	Other appropriation € millions	Balance Dec. 31, 2020 € millions
Subscribed capital	498.6	-	-	498.6
Capital reserves	-	-	-	-
Revenue reserves	-	-	-	-
Silent contributions to capital				
– issued in 2005	88.7	-63.7	-	25.0
- issued in 2009/2010	629.1	-451.5	-	177.6
Retained loss	-379.3	-85.7	-	-465.0
Equity capital pursuant to the German Commercial Code (HGB)	837.2	-600.9	-	236.3

Portigon AG did not acquire any own shares during the entire fiscal year, nor did it hold any own shares at year-end.

21. Non-Distributable Amounts

	Dec. 31, 2020 € millions	Dec. 31, 2019 € millions
Difference arising from the discounting of provisions for post-employment benefit obligations at the ten-year and seven-year average interest rates ¹	80.8	81.0
Capitalised difference between fair value and cost of plan assets within the meaning of § 246 (2) Sentence 2 of the German		
Commercial Code (HGB) ²	2.8	2.3
= Non-distributable amounts	83.6	83.3

 $^{\rm 1}$ see § 253 (6) of the German Commercial Code (HGB)

² see § 268 (8) of the German Commercial Code (HGB)

22. Liability for Pre-Existing Commitments – Grandfathering

In line with the agreement reached between the German government and the European Commission on July 17, 2001, Article 1 § 11 of the Act on Redefining the Legal Status of Public-Law Banking Institutions in North Rhine-Westphalia (Gesetz zur Neuregelung der Rechtsverhältnisse der öffentlich-rechtlichen Kreditinstitute in Nordrhein-Westfalen) stipulated that the public-law liability mechanisms of institutional liability and guarantor liability would no longer apply to new liabilities and commitments entered into by Portigon AG after a transitional period which ended on July 18, 2005.

The grandfathering rules for guarantor liability on commitments agreed to prior to July 19, 2005 are as follows:

- All liabilities incurred by Portigon AG on or before July 18, 2001 are fully covered by guarantor liability until the time they mature.
- Guarantor liability will remain in effect in its original form for all liabilities incurred by Portigon AG from July 19, 2001 to July 18, 2005, so long as the liabilities mature by December 31, 2015; if they mature after the deadline, guarantor liability will not apply.

The guarantors of the former Westdeutsche Landesbank Girozentrale will completely satisfy the obligations arising from their guarantor liability with respect to Portigon AG as soon as they have properly determined and set forth in writing at the time a liability matures that the creditor of such liability cannot be satisfied from Portigon AG's assets. That explicitly includes the possibility of servicing debts precisely at the same time they fall due. The giving of a notice as normally required under aid law is not necessary.

Portigon AG had € 490.8 million in liabilities which were still grandfathered at December 31, 2020 (previous year: € 761.0 million). A € 31.8 million (previous year: € 134.7 million) portion of that relates to portfolios of assets and liabilities which are economically hedged by EAA through guarantee agreements.

23. Foreign Currency Assets/ Foreign Currency Liabilities

	Dec. 31, 2020 € billions	Dec. 31, 2019 € billions
Foreign currency assets	0.1	1.2
Foreign currency liabilities	0.3	1.0

Notes to the Statement of Income

24. Geographic Breakdown of Income Components

The principal components of income shown in Portigon AG's statement of income were obtained in the following geographical markets:

1. 1.–31. 12. 2020 € millions	Interest Income	Current Income	Commission Income	Other Operating Income
Germany	66.7	0.2	0.8	13.0
United Kingdom	3.3	-	-	4.7
North America	108.6	-	_	5.4
Amount reported on the Statement of Income	178.6	0.2	0.8	23.0

The geographic breakdown of income at Portigon AG is determined on the basis of the domicile of the branch.

25. Administrative and Custodial Services

Various services are rendered on behalf of third parties, including, in particular, asset management and the administration of banking portfolios.

26. Interest Income

Interest income of \in 178.6 million (previous year: \in 183.2 million) was mainly attributable to the premature termination of cross-border lease transactions including the premature termination of interest rate swaps in this connection (\in 138.9 million).

27. Interest Paid

Interest paid of \notin 276.9 million (previous year: \notin 347.5 million) was mainly attributable to interest on arrears relating to the recovery of taxes on dividend payments, including solidarity surcharge thereon, which may have been credited in previous years without justification in connection with dividend arbitrage transactions of the former WestLB (\notin 124.6 million) and to the transfer of liabilities in return for consideration in connection with cross-border lease transactions (\notin 105.3 million).

The amended tax and interest assessments received were contested and are not final. The constitutionality of interest levied on corporate income tax 2005 to 2008 for the period starting January 1, 2012 is currently being examined by the German Federal Constitutional Court.

28. Other Operating Result

Other operating income	Dec. 31, 2020 € millions	Dec. 31, 2019 € millions
Amount reported on the Statement of Income	23.0	36.5
thereof:		
Reimbursement and netting by third parties	13.9	21.3
Income from reversal of other provisions	6.6	9.9

Other operating expenses	Dec. 31, 2020 € millions	Dec. 31, 2019 € millions
Amount reported on the Statement of Income	72.4	94.9
thereof:		
Expenses from the discounting of provisions	67.5	76.5

The net figure for other operating expenses and income came to $\notin -49.4$ million at the reporting date (previous year: $\notin -58.4$ million) and is principally due to the unwinding of the discount on provisions for pensions as well as to contractually agreed reimbursements of expenses for administrative services provided in connection with portfolios synthetically transferred to EAA.

29. Income and Expenses Relating to Different Accounting Periods

A total of \notin -397.9 million (previous year: \notin -496.1 million) in expenses relating to different accounting periods was incurred in the 2020 fiscal year, resulting in particular from the recovery of taxes on dividend payments, including solidarity surcharge thereon, for taxes on dividend payments which may have been credited in previous years without justification in connection with dividend arbitrage transactions.

Income relating to different accounting periods in the amount of \in 0.7 million had been reported in the previous year.

30. Extraordinary Result

Portigon AG reported an extraordinary result of € 18.0 million (previous year: € 5.5 million).

The result is largely attributable to the reversal of provisions in connection with the company's restructuring.

31. Taxes on Income and Revenues

	1. 1 31. 12. 2020 € millions	1. 1.−31. 12. 2019 € millions
Amount reported on the Statement of Income	-402.6	-294.0
thereof:		
domestic operations	-404.3	-293.8
foreign operations	1.6	-0.2

The income tax expense of \notin 402.6 million incurred in the 2020 fiscal year (previous year: \notin 294.0 million) is attributable to income taxes from Germany for previous years of \notin 273.2 million and results mainly from the recovery of taxes on dividend payments, including solidarity surcharge thereon, which may have been credited in previous years without justification in connection with dividend arbitrage transactions. Current income taxes from Germany amounted to \notin 131.0 million, and the foreign branches generated current tax income of \notin 1.6 million.

Other Information

32. Contingent Liabilities

Contingent Liabilities and Other Commitments

	Dec. 31, 2020 € millions	Dec. 31, 2019 € millions
Liabilities from guarantees and indemnity agreements	5.6	7.9

33. Off-Balance-Sheet Items

Provision of Collateral for Own Liabilities

Portigon AG has assigned or pledged the following asset volumes to third parties in order to secure its own liabilities:

	Dec. 31, 2020 € millions	Dec. 31, 2019 € millions
Pledged pension liability insurance policies for hedging of pension and similar obligations	48.3	47.9
Own securities pledged to other banks or customers	2.0	11.8
Total assets pledged	50.3	59.7

Outsourcing

In addition to the maintenance, operation and development of the IT infrastructure and applications, Portigon AG has outsourced a number of banking activities. These are principally services relating to loan administration, operations including security settlement, regulatory reporting and risk services. Portigon AG outsources activities and processes only after performing a detailed profitability and risk study. In addition to stability in operations, our aim in outsourcing is to be more efficient and to cut costs on a sustainable basis. All outsourcing satisfies the requirements of § 25b of the German Banking Act (KWG) and MaRisk. We regularly review our outsourcing procedures for potential risks and adjust the procedures as needed.

34. Other Financial Obligations

Deposit Insurance and Other Insurance Mechanisms

Portigon AG is a member of the German Savings Banks Association (DSGV) and makes contributions to the security reserve (guarantee fund) of the Landesbanken and Girozentralen. This protection scheme is connected to the insurance scheme of the Sparkassen-Finanzgruppe, which is officially recognised as a deposit guarantee scheme in accordance with § 43 of the German Act on Deposit Insurance (EinSiG).

The insurance scheme of the Sparkassen-Finanzgruppe consists of eleven funds belonging to the regional savings banks and giro associations, the security reserve (guarantee fund) of the Landesbanken and Girozentralen and the security fund of the Landesbausparkassen, which together form a system of joint liability. There are rules and regulations governing the relationships between regional and national funds which provide for offsetting in cases where coverage is claimed (so-called overflow agreements). Based on the current legal environment, on the assumption that there will be no further cases in which coverage is claimed and on the contribution system of the security reserve (guarantee fund), Portigon AG, having completed the transfer of the imputable sums to the affiliated fund, had no additional funding obligation at the end of the 2020 fiscal year, will not have one for the foreseeable future and will not have to make additional contributions until further notice.

Other Contingent Liabilities

The deficit resulting from indirect pension obligations not carried on the balance sheet within the meaning of Article 28 (2) of the Introductory Act to the German Commercial Code (EGHGB) was \in 187.3 million (previous year: \in 169.7 million).

Portigon AG has rental and leasing obligations and other obligations totalling \notin 23.6 million (previous year: \notin 62.9 million). The agreements have residual maturities of a maximum of 14 years.

35. Forward Transactions/Derivatives

With reference to Note 3, the derivatives transferred to EAA by means of a risk transfer agreement during the transformation in 2012 and the corresponding compensation claims and liabilities vis-a-vis EAA are reported as trust assets and trust liabilities pursuant to § 6 (1) of the Ordinance Regarding Accounting for Banks and Financial Services Institutions (RechKredV). Further subsequent measurement at fair value beyond December 31, 2014 was decided against. Since then, derivatives and corresponding compensation claims and liabilities have been measured at amortised cost, the basis of which is the fair value most recently determined at December 31, 2014. As there are no open positions entailing a settlement risk or currency, interest rate and/or other market price risks, no disclosures pursuant to § 36 of the Ordinance Regarding Accounting for Banks and Financial Services Institutions (RechKredV) are made. Given the economic situation at EAA, a credit risk with regard to these derivatives held in trust is insignificant due to its low probability of occurrence.

With the change in Portigon AG's business model in 2012, the range of approved products decreased significantly. The product categories presented below exclusively relate to derivative transactions whose risks were not transferred to EAA under a risk transfer agreement.

These involve the following product categories:

- Products based on interest rates
- Products based on exchange rates

At the balance sheet date, the total volume in nominal terms of derivative transactions that were not transferred to EAA under a risk transfer agreement was \in 534 million (previous year: \notin 1,320 million).

OTC Products, thereof:	Nomina	al Values	Positive M	arket Values	Negative Ma	arket Values
	Dec. 31, 2020 € millions	Dec. 31, 2019 € millions	Dec. 31, 2020 € millions	Dec. 31, 2019 € millions	Dec. 31, 2020 € millions	,
Products based on interest rates	220	1,066	83	288	-	33
Products based on exchange rates	314	254	26	30	4	_
Total derivatives	534	1,320	109	318	4	33

The market values shown in the table are calculated subject to an overnight indexed swap (OIS) adjustment of \notin 0.2 million, which is calculated as the difference arising from the discounting of the net present values (NPVs) with LIBOR and EONIA curves.

We capture book values of derivatives not carried as trust assets or trust liabilities (non-trading-portfolio items), which are relevant only with respect to interest payment components, as claims on banks and customers and assets under deferred items as well as liabilities to banks and customers and liabilities under deferred items.

Nominal Amounts		Based on t Rates		Products Based on Share Prices and Other Prices		
	Dec. 31, 2020 € millions	Dec. 31, 2019 € millions	Dec. 31, 2020 € millions	Dec. 31, 2019 € millions		
Residual maturity						
– up to 3 months	-	250	243	177		
- 3 months to 1 year	-	182	-	-		
– 1 to 5 years	45	310	-	-		
– more than 5 years	176	324	70	77		
Total	220	1,066	314	254		

36. Remuneration of the Governing Bodies

	2020 € millions	2019 € millions
Total remuneration of the Managing Board	0.7	0.6
fixed	0.7	0.6
performance-based	-	_
departure-related	-	_
from holding supervisory board seats at Group subsidiaries	-	_
Total remuneration of former Managing Board members and their survivors	6.2	5.9
Total remuneration of Supervisory Board members	0.1	0.1
fixed	0.1	0.1
performance-based	-	_
performance-based with long-term incentive effects	-	_
Pension provisions for Managing Board members who actively served during the fiscal year ¹	3.8	3.4
Pension provisions for former Managing Board members and their survivors ¹	115.2	109.5

¹ before offsetting against the related plan assets

The members of the Supervisory Board received a total remuneration of \notin 75,000 in the year under review (previous year: \notin 73,000), which was disbursed in the following fiscal year. In addition, out-of-pocket expenses of Supervisory Board members were offset as a lump sum in an amount of \notin 11,000 (previous year: \notin 6,000).

Remuneration of the Members of the Managing Board

	Period	Fixed	Performance-	Remuneration	Remuneration	Total	Obligation/	Additions to/
		remune-	based	with long-term	from seats	remuneration	present value	subtractions
		ration ¹	remuneration	incentive effects	at Group		of pension	from pension
					subsidiaries		commitments	commitments
							as of	in 2020
							Dec. 31, 2020 ²	
		€	€	€	€	€	€	€
Seyfert, Frank	1. 1. – 31. 12. 2020	344,025	-	-	-	344,025	2.411,301	187,151
Glaß, Barbara	1. 4. – 31. 12. 2020	258,470	-	-	-	258,470	392,342	143,878
Stemper, Dr. Peter	1. 1. – 19. 08. 2020	119,427	-	-	-	119,427	986,309	-160,434
Total Managing Board	1. 1. – 31. 12. 2020	721,922	-	-	-	721,922	3,789,952	170,595

¹ including non-cash compensation, taxes and the employer portion of social security contributions

² accounted for only in accordance with HGB, figures determined based on pension entitlements arising from members' length of service in the company

Remuneration of the Supervisory Board members

	Period	Fixed remuneration €	Performance-based remuneration €	Total remuneration €
Brockhaus, Ernst-Albrecht	1. 1. – 31. 12. 2020	15,000	-	15,000
Forst, Eckhard	1. 1. – 31. 12. 2020	20,000	-	20,000
Hock, Gudrun	1. 1. – 31. 12. 2020	10,000	-	10,000
Huth, Jutta M.	1. 1. – 31. 12. 2020	10,000	-	10,000
Möbius, Christian	1. 1. – 31. 12. 2020	10.000	-	10,000
Stemper, Dr. Peter	26. 8. – 31. 12. 2020	3,497	-	3,497
Subtotal		68,497		68,497
Lump-sum reimbursement of out-of-poo	ket expenses			9,600
Value-added tax on amounts paid				7,920
Total				86,017

37. Loans to Members of the Governing Bodies

No advances or loans were granted to members of the Managing Board or Supervisory Board of Portigon AG.

38. Audit Fees

	2020 € millions	2019 € millions
Auditing the annual financial statements	0.4	0.6
Miscellenaneous reports and opinions	0.0	0.0
Total	0.4	0.6

In addition to the expenses for statutory audits, the audit fees include in particular the expenditure for the audit of the reporting in connection with the risk monitoring of the security reserve (guarantee fund) of the Landesbanken and Girozentralen.

39. Number of Employees

The average number of employees in 2020 was as follows:

	Male	Female	Total 2020	Total 2019
Domestic companies/branches	34	33	67	83
Foreign companies/branches	10	6	16	22
Total	44	39	83	105

40. Shareholdings in Portigon AG

Shareholders	Investme	Investment Quota		
	Dec. 31, 2020 %	Dec. 31, 2019 %		
State of North Rhine-Westphalia	69.49	69.49		
NRW.BANK	30.51	30.51		
Total	100.00	100.00		

The State of North Rhine-Westphalia notified us pursuant to § 20 (4) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) that it directly holds a majority stake in our company. The State of North Rhine-Westphalia also notified us that the shares in Portigon AG held by NRW.BANK, which is an enterprise that the State of North Rhine-Westphalia controls, are to be attributable to it pursuant to § 16 (4) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG).

41. Seats Held by Members of the Managing Board

In 2020, no members of the Managing Board of Portigon AG were chairmen or members of a large corporation's supervisory body within the meaning of § 340a of the German Commercial Code (HGB).

42. Seats Held by Employees

Seats held by employees of Portigon AG

In 2020, no employees were chairpersons or members of a large corporation's supervisory body within the meaning of § 340a (4) No. 1, in conjunction with § 267 (3), of the German Commercial Code (HGB).

43. Governing Bodies of Portigon AG

Portigon AG Managing Board

Frank Seyfert

Chairman of the Managing Board since August 20, 2020; previously already a member of the Managing Board

Barbara Glaß

Member of the Managing Board since April 1, 2020

Dr. Peter Stemper

Member and Chairman of the Managing Board until August 19, 2020

Portigon AG Supervisory Board

Eckhard Forst

Chairman Chairman of the Managing Board NRW.BANK Düsseldorf

Ernst-Albrecht Brockhaus

Deputy Chairman Banker Munich

Gudrun Hock

Consultant Düsseldorf

Jutta M. Huth

Banker Portigon AG Düsseldorf

Christian Möbius

Lawyer Cologne

Dr. Peter Stemper

since August 26, 2020 Bank Director NRW.BANK Düsseldorf

44. Shareholdings

List of shareholdings in accordance with § 285 No. 11 and § 340a (4) No. 2 of the German Commercial Code (HGB):

No.	Name	Place	Stake	Voting Rights	Currency Code	Share Capital	Result
				Rights	couc	€	€
			in %	in %1		-	thousands
1	Portigon Europe (UK) Holdings Limited ³	London, United Kingdom	100.00		GBP	12.21	-4.49
2	Portigon Finance Curaçao N.V. ³	Willemstad,					
	5	Curaçao	100.00		EUR	262.52	216.52
3	Portigon Property Services Limited ^{2 3}	St. Helier, Jersey	100.00		GBP	5.52	5.52
4	Portigon Versorgungskasse GmbH ³	Düsseldorf	100.00		EUR	25.00	0.00
5	Treuhand- und Finanzierungsgesellschaft für Wohnungs-	Düsseldorf					
	und Bauwirtschaft mit beschränkter Haftung, Treufinanz ³		65.41	66.37	EUR	1,435.40	-265.95

¹ insofar as this deviates from the stake in the capital

² indirectly held

³ data as of Dec. 31, 2019

45. Events after the Reporting Period

On March 25, 2021, the extraordinary shareholders' meeting of Portigon AG resolved to increase the share capital of Portigon AG by \in 160,000,016.56 from the current \in 498,649,007.45 to \in 658,649,024.01 against cash contributions by issuing 7,282,175 Class A registered shares at an issue price of \in 21.97145997723053 per share. Following the capital increase, the share capital will amount to \in 658,649,024.01. It is divided into 29,977,481 Class A shares. The capital increase was entered in the commercial register on March 29, 2021.

The capital increase will lead to a corresponding increase in liquidity as well as an improvement in both own funds, including Tier 1 capital, and the regulatory capital ratios.

Düsseldorf, March 30, 2021

Portigon AG The Managing Board

Frank Seyfert

Barbara Glaß

46. Country-by-Country Reporting as at December 31, 2020

The requirements for country-by-country reporting in accordance with EU Directive 2013/36/EU (Capital Requirements Directive, CDR IV) were transposed into German law with § 26a of the German Banking Act (KWG).

Portigon AG's country-by-country reporting discloses, specifying by EU Member State and by third country in which it has a branch, the following information for the 2020 fiscal year: the revenues generated, profit or loss before taxes, taxes on income and revenues as well as the number of employees on a full-time equivalent basis. The figure given for revenues is the profit or loss on ordinary activities reported in the HGB annual financial statements including other taxes before administrative expenses as well as risk provisions.

Country	Revenues ¹	Profit or Loss before Taxes ¹	Taxes on Income and Revenues ¹	Number of Full-Time Employees
Germany	-156.8	-192.6	-404.3	56
UK	2.4	-3.3	-	5
USA	1.3	-2.3	1.6	7

¹ all figures in € millions

Name	Nature of Activities	Place of Business/ City	Country
Portigon AG, Düsseldorf branch	Credit institution	Düsseldorf	Germany
Portigon AG, London branch	Other enterprise	London	UK
Portigon AG, New York branch	Credit institution	New York	USA

As a consequence of the 2008 financial market crisis, Portigon AG received various public subsidies as part of the EU state aid procedure. At the balance sheet date, subsidies of this nature still existed in the form of silent contributions to capital by FMS and the State of North Rhine-Westphalia in the amount of \notin 177.6 million. Please refer to Note 20 for more information.

Independent Auditor's Report

We have issued the following auditor's report on the annual financial statements and management report:

"Independent Auditor's Report

To Portigon AG, Düsseldorf

Report on the Audit of the Annual Financial Statements and of the Management Report

Audit Opinions

We have audited the annual financial statements prepared by Portigon AG, which comprise the balance sheet as at December 31, 2020, the statement of income for the fiscal year from January 1, 2020 to December 31, 2020 and the notes to the annual financial statements, including a summary of the accounting policies. In addition, we have audited the management report of Portigon AG for the fiscal year from January 1, 2020 to December 31, 2020.

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in the audit,

- the accompanying annual financial statements comply, in all material respects, with the requirements of German commercial law applicable to institutions and, in compliance with German accepted accounting principles, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the company as at December 31, 2020, and of its financial performance for the fiscal year from January 1, 2020 to December 31, 2020, and
- the accompanying management report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the company's position. In all material respects, this management report is consistent with the annual financial statements, complies with German legal requirements and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future development.

Pursuant to § 322 (3) Sentence 1 of the German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch – HGB), we declare that our audit has not led to any reservations relating to the legal compliance of the annual financial statements and of the management report.

Basis for the Audit Opinions

We conducted our audit of the annual financial statements and of the management report in accordance with § 317 HGB and the EU Audit Regulation (No. 537/2014, referred to subsequently as "EU Audit Regulation") and in compliance with German Generally Accepted Standards for Financial Statement Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW). Our responsibilities under those requirements and principles are further described in the "Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Annual Financial Statements and of the Management Report" section of our auditor's report. We are independent of the company in accordance with the requirements of European law and German commercial and professional law, and we have fulfilled our other German professional responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. In addition, in accordance with Article 10 (2) point (f) of the EU Audit Regulation, we declare that we have not provided non-audit services prohibited under Article 5 (1) of the EU Audit Regulation. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions on the annual financial statements and on the management report.

Key Audit Matters in the Audit of the Annual Financial Statements

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the annual financial statements for the fiscal year from January 1, 2020 to December 31, 2020. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our audit opinion thereon; we do not provide a separate audit opinion on these matters.

In our view, the matters of most significance in our audit were as follows:

Effects of the Loss-Making Situation on the Going Concern Basis of Accounting

Reasons for the Determination as a Key Audit Matter

In accordance with the approval decision taken by the European Commission on December 20, 2011, Portigon AG is being downsized. Net losses had been incurred in the preceding years. Furthermore, the Managing Board expects that the income generated in the future will be insufficient in the medium term to cover the administrative expenses which continue to be incurred.

In the reporting year, the Bank received several amended tax assessments in connection with dividend arbitrage transactions of the former WestLB. The resulting payments required to be made were a significant factor in the net loss incurred for the year 2020, leading to the loss of more than half of the share capital.

In view of this situation, steps were taken to make sufficient equity capital available and to safeguard liquidity and ensure fulfillment of the regulatory capital requirements.

Consideration of the loss-making situation in the multi-year planning, as well as the Managing Board's assessment based on this with regard to the application of the going concern basis of accounting, was therefore a key audit matter, due in particular to the effects of the amended tax assessments on the regulatory capital base, the reported equity capital and the liquidity of Portigon AG.

Audit Approach

We discussed with the Managing Board the impact of the loss incurred in 2020 on the development of reported equity capital, liquidity and fulfillment of the regulatory capital requirements.

We analysed Portigon AG's multi-year planning, including liquidity planning and the planning of the regulatory capital ratios, and discussed these with the responsible management level, soliciting input from our internal experts. In doing so, we assessed the key planning assumptions, expected developments and measures in connection with the downsizing and evaluated how these can be transparently reflected in the multi-year planning.

We verified the methodology of the planning model. In addition, we analysed the planning accuracy by comparing the information with prior periods.

We discussed the measures taken with the Managing Board, focusing on the consequences of these measures on the development of reported equity capital, liquidity and future compliance with regulatory capital requirements, as well as the legal framework of the measures.

Furthermore, with regard to the increase in the share capital of Portigon AG and the corresponding amendment of the Articles of Association, we inspected the minutes of the resolution of the extraordinary shareholders' meeting of March 25, 2021 and the entry in the commercial register, and verified the payment of the cash contribution on the basis of a bank confirmation.

We considered the findings of the expert examination by an audit firm on the going-concern prognosis based on Portigon AG's financial planning as of December 31, 2020.

Our audit procedures have not led to any reservations with regard to the application of the going concern basis of accounting.

Reference to Related Disclosures

The Bank's disclosures on Portigon AG's loss-making situation, the measures taken and the assessment of the executive directors regarding the company's ability to continue as a going concern are provided in the notes to the financial statements under the notes to the balance sheet in note 20. "Equity Capital", under the notes to the statement of income in notes 27. "Interest Paid" and 31. "Taxes on Income and Revenues", in the section entitled "Events after the Reporting Period" as well as in the sections of the management report entitled "Structural Changes", "Statement of Income", "Events after the Reporting Period" and "Outlook".

Other Information

The supervisory board is responsible for the "Report of the Supervisory Board". Otherwise, the executive directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the "Report of the Supervisory Board", "Portigon Key Figures", "Corporate Governance at Portigon AG" and the overview entitled "Locations", which we obtained prior to the date of our auditor's report.

Our audit opinions on the annual financial statements and on the management report do not cover the other information, and consequently we do not express an audit opinion or any other form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in so doing, to consider whether the other information

- is materially inconsistent with the annual financial statements, the management report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
- otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Executive Directors and the Supervisory Board for the Annual Financial Statements and the Management Report

The executive directors are responsible for the preparation of the annual financial statements that comply, in all material respects, with the requirements of German commercial law applicable to institutions and that the annual financial statements, in compliance with German accepted accounting principles, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and financial performance of the company. In addition, the executive directors are responsible for such internal control as they have determined necessary in accordance with German accepted accounting principles to enable the preparation of annual financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the annual financial statements, the executive directors are responsible for assessing the company's ability to continue as a going concern. They also have the responsibility for disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern. In addition, they are responsible for financial reporting based on the going concern basis of accounting unless actual or legal conditions require otherwise.

Furthermore, the executive directors are responsible for the preparation of the management report that, as a whole, provides an appropriate view of the company's position and is, in all material respects, consistent with the annual financial statements, complies with German legal requirements and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future development. In addition, the executive directors are responsible for such arrangements and measures (systems) as they have considered necessary to enable the preparation of a management report that is in accordance with the applicable German legal requirements, and to be able to provide sufficient appropriate evidence for the assertions in the management report.

The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing the company's financial reporting process for the preparation of the annual financial statements and the management report.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Annual Financial Statements and of the Management Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the annual financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and whether the management report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the company's position and, in all material respects, is consistent with the annual financial statements and the knowledge obtained in the audit, complies with the German legal requirements and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future development, as well as to issue an auditor's report that includes our audit opinions on the annual financial statements and on the management report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with § 317 HGB and the EU Audit Regulation and in compliance with German Generally Accepted Standards for Financial Statement Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW) will always detect a material misstatement. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these annual financial statements and this management report.

We exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the annual financial statements and of the management report, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions; the risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the overriding of internal controls;
- obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit of the annual financial statements and of arrangements and measures (systems) relevant to the audit of the management report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an audit opinion on the effectiveness of these systems;
- evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used by the executive directors and the reasonableness of estimates made by the executive directors and related disclosures;
- conclude on the appropriateness of the executive directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the company's ability to continue as a going concern; if we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in the auditor's report to the related disclosures in the annual financial statements and in the management report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our respective audit opinions. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the company to cease to be able to continue as a going concern;
- evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the annual financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the annual financial statements present the underlying transactions and events in a manner that the annual financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and financial performance of the company in compliance with German accepted accounting principles;
- evaluate the consistency of the management report with the annual financial statements, its conformity with German law, and the view of the company's position it provides;
- perform audit procedures on the prospective information presented by the executive directors in the management report. On the basis of sufficient appropriate audit evidence we evaluate, in particular, the significant assumptions used by the executive directors as a basis for the prospective information, and evaluate the proper derivation of the prospective information from these assumptions. We do not express a separate audit opinion on the prospective information and on the assumptions used as a basis. There is a substantial unavoidable risk that future events will differ materially from the prospective information.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with the relevant independence requirements, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, the related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the annual financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter.

Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Further Information pursuant to Article 10 of the EU Audit Regulation

We were elected as auditor by the shareholders' meeting on August 19, 2020. We were engaged by the supervisory board on September 29, 2020. We have been the auditor of Portigon AG without interruption since the 2003 fiscal year.

We declare that the audit opinions contained in this auditor's report are consistent with the additional report to the supervisory board pursuant to Article 11 of the EU Audit Regulation (long-form audit report).

German Public Auditor Responsible for the Engagement

The German Public Auditor responsible for the engagement is Alexander Vogt."

Düsseldorf, March 30, 2021

Ernst & Young GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Vogt

Eckert

Wirtschaftsprüfer (German public auditor) Wirtschaftsprüferin (German public auditor)

Report of the Supervisory Board

In the 2020 fiscal year, as in previous years, Portigon AG systematically pressed ahead with its downsizing in accordance with the conditions set by the European Commission in 2011. Total assets fell by 33% year-on-year to € 2.8 billion at year-end 2020, while the number of employees over the year declined from 88 (full-time equivalent) at the end of 2019 to 68 (full-time equivalent) at December 31, 2020, a decrease of 23%.

Outside Germany, Portigon AG is still represented at its locations in London and New York, though the regulatory closure of the London branch took place in July 2020. The projects being implemented to close the last two foreign locations are on schedule and are expected to be completed in 2021. The Supervisory Board received regular progress reports on the downsizing measures at its meetings.

The investigation launched by the Düsseldorf Public Prosecutor's Office and transferred to the Cologne Public Prosecutor's Office in 2020 in connection with dividend arbitrage transactions of the former WestLB was again a particular focus of the Supervisory Board's work in the 2020 fiscal year. Comprehensive briefings were given and in-depth discussions held on this subject at the Supervisory Board meetings. The Supervisory Board was also appraised of significant new developments by telephone or in writing.

Following an amendment of the Articles of Association, which was approved by the shareholders' meeting on August 19, 2020 and entered in the commercial register on August 26, the Supervisory Board now consists of six members. In addition to the five existing members in the previous year, Eckhard Forst (Chairman of the Supervisory Board), Ernst-Albrecht Brockhaus (Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board), Gudrun Hock, Jutta M. Huth and Christian Möbius, Dr. Peter Stemper has been a new member of the Supervisory Board since August 26.

Supervision and Advising of Management

In the 2020 fiscal year, the Supervisory Board held a total of six meetings in the form of telephone or video conferences on account of the coronavirus pandemic for the purposes of advising the Managing Board, supervising its management of the company, adopting the necessary resolutions and actively supporting the company within the scope of the tasks required of supervisory boards by law. These meetings were held on January 30, April 1, June 24, August 19, September 30 and December 16, 2020. In addition, the Supervisory Board adopted resolutions outside of meetings by means of written circulars; the corresponding draft resolutions were submitted to the Supervisory Board on February 4, August 19, and September 3.

The Supervisory Board performed its duties in relation to the supervision and advising of the Managing Board in full keeping with the statutory provisions as well as the Bank's Articles and Bylaws. To fulfil these tasks, the Managing Board provided the Supervisory Board with detailed reports on a continuous basis. All important aspects of planning, the course of business, company management and strategy, particularly the business, risk and IT strategy, as well as material events and transactions, were covered. Decisions and transactions requiring the Supervisory Board's approval were presented to the Supervisory Board and a decision was made. The Chairman and Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board and the Chairman of the Managing Board also regularly discussed current issues and Managing Board decisions.

Furthermore, the Supervisory Board regularly discussed issues with relevance for risk and auditing based on the quarterly reports on the risk situation and the annual and quarterly information provided by Internal Audit pursuant to Section 25c of the German Banking Act (KWG). It also regularly discussed matters relating to the Managing Board and received continuous updates on the company's planned transformation process.

At its extraordinary meeting on January 30, the Supervisory Board discussed new findings and developments on the matter of dividend arbitrage transactions. In this context, the Supervisory Board received detailed briefings from the Managing Board on the updated planning for the years 2020 to 2024 and discussed the schedule for the adoption of the 2019 annual financial statements, which was also updated on this basis. At its meeting on April 1, the Supervisory Board received a report from the Bank's Remuneration Committee on compliance with the regulatory requirements for the remuneration system, in addition to the usual key topics. On June 24, the Supervisory Board resolved, among other things, to renew the D&O insurance policy and the policy providing legal cover for D&O insurance and to continue the criminal law insurance policy.

After the preparation of the 2019 annual financial statements planned for March followed by their adoption on April 1 had initially been postponed due to the ongoing processing and evaluation of the documents of the investigating authorities in connection with dividend arbitrage transactions, the Supervisory Board adopted the annual financial statements for 2019 at its meeting on August 19 based on the corresponding report by the auditor, Ernst & Young GmbH. It also resolved on the "Report of the Supervisory Board for 2019" and the "Corporate Governance Report in the 2019 Annual Report" of Portigon AG and gave its recommendation to the shareholders' meeting to ratify the acts of the Managing Board and Supervisory Board for the 2019 fiscal year, to appoint Ernst & Young GmbH as the external auditors for the 2020 fiscal year, to amend the Articles of Association and to appoint Supervisory Board members.

At its meeting on September 30, the Supervisory Board initiated the bidding process for the audit of the company's annual financial statements for 2021/2022 and discussed the key audit areas for the 2020 fiscal year with the auditors. One area of emphasis at the meeting on December 16 was updating the planning for 2021 to 2025.

Audit of the Subordinated Status Report

Pursuant to § 313 (1) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), Ernst & Young GmbH, as the statutory auditor, submitted an audit report on the report on relations with affiliated enterprises for the period from January 1 to December 31, 2020. The external auditors confirmed that the factual statements made in the report on relations with affiliated enterprises prepared by the Managing Board of Portigon AG in accordance with § 312 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) are accurate and that the consideration given by the company for the transactions specified in the report was not unreasonably high or that any disadvantages the company suffered were compensated.

The Supervisory Board's review of the report on relations with affiliated enterprises prepared by the Managing Board of Portigon AG in accordance with § 312 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) did not raise any concerns. The Supervisory Board endorsed the audit performed by the external auditors. Based on this and the final results of its own examination, the Supervisory Board is raising no objections to the concluding statement of the Managing Board on the company's relations with affiliated enterprises.

Audit and Adoption of the Annual Financial Statements for the 2020 Fiscal Year

At its meeting on January 20, 2021, the Supervisory Board discussed in detail the effects of the different amended tax assessments issued by the Düsseldorf Tax Office in connection with dividend arbitrage transactions of the former WestLB on the expected annual financial statements for the 2020 fiscal year. In its ad hoc announcement dated December 21, 2020, the Managing Board said it expected Portigon AG to post a net loss of around \in 600 million for the 2020 fiscal year, corresponding to more than 50% of the share capital in existence at the end of 2019. Against this background, the shareholders' meeting resolved on March 25, 2021 – in accordance with a proposal by the Supervisory Board on this matter – to implement an ordinary capital increase pursuant to § 182 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG).

At its meeting on April 21, 2021 the Supervisory Board then adopted the annual financial statements for the 2020 fiscal year and gave its recommendation to the shareholders' meeting to ratify the acts of the Managing Board and Supervisory Board for the 2020 fiscal year at its meeting on the same day and, following the bidding process and its evaluation by an independent firm of lawyers, to appoint Ernst & Young GmbH as the external auditors for the 2021 fiscal year.

Supervisory Board members received copies, in a timely manner, of the Bank's annual financial statements and management report prepared by the Managing Board, the external auditors' reports on the annual financial statements, as well as the annual summary report prepared by Internal Audit pursuant to the Minimum Requirements for the Internal Audit Function of Banks. The external auditors, Ernst & Young GmbH, Wirtschaftsprüfungs-gesellschaft, attended the audit-related meeting of the Supervisory Board. The external auditors auditors audited the annual financial statements including the management report for the 2020 fiscal year. The annual financial statements and management report of Portigon AG, as well as the bookkeeping on which they are based, received the external auditors' unqualified audit opinion.

The Supervisory Board examined the financial statements and the management report and discussed the reports of the external auditors on the findings of their audit. Based on the final result of this review, no objections were raised.

Düsseldorf, April 21, 2021

The Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Corporate Governance at Portigon AG

The recognition that responsible and transparent corporate governance requires coherent corporate governance standards is firmly rooted in the corporate philosophy of Portigon AG.

From 2006, Portigon AG (then still called WestLB AG) voluntarily based its corporate governance on the German Corporate Governance Code, as amended, even though only listed companies are required to comply with the German Corporate Governance Code.

In view of the fact that the Bank's downsizing is already well advanced, it no longer makes sense for Portigon AG to continue its voluntary recognition of the structurally redesigned Code, published in the Federal Gazette on March 20, 2020. With effect from January 1, 2020, following a corresponding resolution by the Supervisory Board in December 2019, Portigon AG will therefore exclusively observe the rules of the Public Corporate Governance Code (the "Code") of the State of North Rhine-Westphalia and the related obligations. The rules of procedure of the Managing Board and Supervisory Board have consequently been amended with effect from January 1, 2020.

The Code is seen as a yardstick for good and responsible governance and control. The aim is to ensure transparent corporate governance and monitoring and to clarify the role of the state as a shareholder or stakeholder.

Pursuant to the Code, Portigon AG provides annual reports on the company's corporate governance in its Corporate Governance Report. The report is part of the Annual Report and is also published on Portigon AG's website at www.portigon-ag.de. As in the previous years, a remuneration report also forms part of the Corporate Governance Report.

Remuneration Report

Portigon AG has aligned its remuneration system with the "Principles for Sound Compensation Practices". Portigon AG discloses the remuneration of the Managing Board both in the notes to the annual financial statements and in this remuneration report in accordance with the Code, with reference to the North Rhine-Westphalia State Budget Regulation (Landeshaushaltsordnung Nordrhein-Westfalen, LHO NRW) and the North Rhine-Westphalia Remuneration Disclosure Act (Vergütungsoffenlegungsgesetz Nordrhein-Westfalen, VergütungsOG NRW), which, as part of the Corporate Governance Report, also explains the main features of the remuneration system for Managing Board members. Moreover, the remuneration report includes information about the composition and amount of remuneration paid to the Supervisory Board.

In all other respects, the publication of information relating to the remuneration paid to members of the governing bodies is handled pursuant to the German Financial Market Stabilisation Fund Act (FMStFG) and the agreements entered into with Germany's Financial Market Stabilisation Authority (FMSA, formerly SoFFin).

Remuneration of the Managing Board

The Supervisory Board determines the remuneration for the Managing Board members of Portigon AG in accordance with the statutory requirements, including the FMStFG and the Regulation Concerning Supervisory Requirements for Remuneration Systems at Institutions (InstitutsVergV), as well as FMSA requirements. This applies, in particular, to salaries and other components of remuneration, including pension commitments. Employment agreements detailing the remuneration are concluded with the members of the Managing Board.

The fixed component, a basic remuneration not directly linked to performance, is paid on a monthly basis as salary. It is typically reviewed when employment agreements are renewed. It also includes non-cash compensation awarded in customary amounts. Essentially, this covers the payment of insurance premiums, to the extent such benefits are part of the member's employment agreement.

As fringe benefits Portigon AG has granted its Managing Board members organisational job-related benefits such as reimbursement of their expenses for annual medical check-ups and business trips.

In order to stabilise the Bank, the former WestLB AG entered into extensive agreements with SoFFin which took effect on November 1, 2009. In this context, the total monetary remuneration for each Managing Board member has been capped at € 500,000 per year since November 1, 2009.

Remuneration of the Supervisory Board

The appropriate remuneration of the Supervisory Board of Portigon AG, which members receive after the close of the fiscal year, was set by a resolution of the shareholders' meeting held on August 31, 2012.

The company provides the Supervisory Board members with a lump-sum reimbursement of their out-of-pocket expenses and reimburses any value-added tax that individual Supervisory Board members pay on their remuneration and out-of-pocket expenses, if they invoice the tax separately.

Remuneration of the Governing Bodies in 2020

The remuneration of the governing bodies of Portigon AG in the 2020 fiscal year was as follows:

	1. 1. – 31. 12. 2020 € millions	1. 1. – 31. 12. 2019 € millions
Total remuneration of the Managing Board	0.7	0.6
- fixed	0.7	0.6
– performance-based	-	_
– departure-related	-	_
- from holding supervisory board seats at Group subsidiaries	-	_
Total remuneration of former Managing Board members and their survivors	6.2	5.9
Total remuneration of Supervisory Board members	0.1	0.1
- fixed	0.1	0.1
– performance-based	-	_
- performance-based with long-term incentive effects	-	_
Pension provisions for Managing Board members who actively served during the fiscal year	3.8	3.4
Pension provisions for former Managing Board members and their survivors ¹	115.2	109.5

¹ before offsetting against the related plan assets

For further details please refer to note 36 of the Annual Report.

Declaration of Compliance 2020

The Managing Board and Supervisory Board of Portigon AG herewith declare for 2020 that Portigon AG complied with the recommendations of the Public Corporate Governance Code of the State of North Rhine-Westphalia, with the following exceptions:

- Article 2.2.1 of the Code sets out that the annual financial statements and the management report for the previous fiscal year must be submitted to the shareholders' meeting within the first six months of the current fiscal year. Due to the postponement of the preparation and adoption of the 2019 annual financial statements as a consequence of the investigations by the Tax Investigation Department and the Public Prosecutor's Office in connection with dividend arbitrage transactions of the former WestLB, the 2019 annual financial statements were presented to the shareholders' meeting of Portigon AG on August 19, 2020. This is in compliance with the German Stock Corporation Act and the Articles of Association of Portigon AG, which stipulate that the financial statements must be presented within the first eight months of a fiscal year.
- Article 3.1.2 of the Code states that rules of procedure to be approved by the Supervisory Board shall govern the allocation of duties and cooperation among individual Managing Board members. To ensure maximum flexibility – especially because the Managing Board has comprised only two members since August 20, 2020 – Portigon AG refrains from establishing the allocation of duties of the members of the Managing Board in the rules of procedure for the Managing Board. The duties of the two Managing Board members are regulated in an organisational chart.
- Article 3.3.4 of the Code sets out that particularly when appointing the company's executives the Managing Board shall consider the principle of diversity and endeavour to achieve the appropriate consideration of members of both genders for such positions. Given Portigon AG's special situation, defined by the company's systematic downsizing and the plan to ultimately establish a company without personnel, targeted appointment of company executives, as envisaged in the Code, is impossible to implement in practice. In years past, many executive positions were permanently eliminated. Please refer to Article 5.2 for more information on the structure and filling of executive functions at Portigon AG.
- Article 3.4.2 (4) of the Public Corporate Governance Code stipulates that when contracts are entered into with Managing Board members, it shall be ensured that payments, including fringe benefits, made to a Managing Board member due to early termination of their Managing Board contract for good cause do not exceed twice the annual remuneration (severance cap) and do not constitute remuneration for more than the remaining term of the employment contract. Portigon AG's older Managing Board contracts did not provide for a severance cap of this nature, but new contracts include this stipulation.
- Article 3.4.3 (2) of the Code sets out that if the Supervisory Board establishes the remuneration system for the Managing Board or the principal features of the contract, the Chair of the Supervisory Board shall inform the shareholders' meeting about the structure of the remuneration system for the Managing Board and about the principal features of the contract as well as any amendments. The shareholders' meeting of Portigon AG is not informed in this regard because there is close dialogue with the owners in advance of resolutions on changes to the remuneration system.
- Since 2016, the company has no longer followed the recommendation in Article 4.4.2 (1)
 of the Code setting out that, depending on the number of Supervisory Board members
 and the specific circumstances of the company, the Supervisory Board shall establish
 an Audit Committee. Considering the already well-advanced downsizing of Portigon AG
 and the fact that the Supervisory Board comprises only six members, the Supervisory
 Board once again decided against forming any committees in the 2020 fiscal year. The
 duties of an Audit Committee are performed by the full Supervisory Board itself.

- Article 4.8.2 (3) of the Code proposes that the corporation take out a D&O (directors' and officers' liability insurance) policy only with the consent of the shareholders' meeting. At Portigon AG, the Supervisory Board approves the taking out of a D&O insurance policy following a prior exchange of information at owner level.
- Article 6.2.6 of the Code sets out that the company shall appoint a new auditor when the auditor has audited five consecutive sets of the company's annual financial statements, provided that there are no grounds for an earlier change. The entire audit firm, not just the auditor of the financial statements, should be changed. Portigon AG is a CRR credit institution within the meaning of § 1 (3d) Sentence 1 of the German Banking Act (KWG) and, as a public interest entity (PIE), must therefore comply in particular with the new regulations of the EU Audit Regulation (cf. Art. 2 (1) (b)) and the German Audit Reform Act (AReG). Based on the transitional provision of Art. 41 (2) of the EU Audit Regulation, the current auditor must not be excluded from the selection procedure for the audit engagement. As the current auditor submits the most cost-effective quotation, there has been no change in auditor to date.

The declaration of compliance is available in German at www.portigon-ag.de/ Unternehmensinformationen/Corporate Governance.

Report on the Gender Balance in the Governing Bodies and among the Company's Executives

With regard to Article 5.2 of the Code, the Corporate Governance Report shall also address the gender balance in the governing bodies and among the company's executives. When appointing the company's executives in the past, the Managing Board also gave particular consideration to the principle of diversity and thus to an appropriate gender balance. However, in the course of the downsizing of Portigon AG in years past, many executive positions were permanently eliminated. The company's restructuring will also be systematically continued in the coming years, accompanied by a further reduction in the number of executives. No new executives are expected to be hired in the years to come.

In light of this situation, the Managing Board of Portigon AG had two members as at December 31, 2020: Barbara Glaß and Frank Seyfert. This means the composition of the Managing Board is 50% female and 50% male. At December 31, 2020, the Supervisory Board had a total of six members, two female and four male. Owing to the advanced downsizing, there is now effectively only one management level below the Managing Board. The Bank's German operations had only five business unit managers left at the reporting date December 31, 2020, all of whom are male. The executive functions remaining below the level of business unit manager, most of which are relatively minor, are performed by two women and six men.

Düsseldorf, April 21, 2021

Representing the Supervisory Board

Shad Fort

Eckhard Forst

Representing the Managing Board

Frank Seyfert

Locations

Domestic

Portigon AG

Völklinger Straße 4 40219 Düsseldorf Tel. + 49 211 890 995 00 Fax + 49 211 890 995 84

Foreign

London

80 Coleman Street London EC2R 5BJ United Kingdom Tel. + 44 20 7020-2000 Fax + 44 20 7020-2002

New York

589 8th Avenue 2nd Floor New York, NY 10018 Tel. + 1 212 852-6000 Fax + 1 212 852-6300

Company Information/Addresses

Portigon AG

Völklinger Straße 4 40219 Düsseldorf Tel. + 49 211 890 995 00 www.portigon-ag.de

Communications

Völklinger Straße 4 40219 Düsseldorf Tel. + 49 211 890 995 05 info@portigon-ag.de

The Annual Report is also available in German and can be inspected on our website at portigon-ag.de.

Production

valido marketing services GmbH

Disclaimer Reservation regarding forward-looking statements

This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements on our business and earnings performance based on our current planning, estimates, forecasts and expectations. The statements entail risks and uncertainties, as there are a variety of factors which influence our business and to a great extent lie beyond our sphere of influence. Above all, these include trends in the capital markets. Actual results and developments may therefore diverge considerably from our current assumptions, which, for this reason, are valid only at the time of publication. We undertake no obligation to revise our forward-looking statements in the light of either new information or unexpected events.



Portigon AG Völklinger Straße 4 40219 Düsseldorf Tel. + 49 211 890 995 00

www.portigon-ag.de